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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Good

          3  afternoon, everybody, and welcome. I am Councilman

          4  Jerome O'Donovan, Chair of the Economic Development

          5  Committee. And today the Committee will be

          6  conducting an oversight hearing on the future of

          7  manufacturing development and real estate in the

          8  City of New York.

          9                 I would like to recognize the members

         10  who are here right now, and that is Councilwoman Una

         11  Clarke from Brooklyn. The other Council members are

         12  outside at a hearing and some are downstairs on

         13  other business and will be up shortly.

         14                 Those persons wishing to provide

         15  testimony please get an appearance card in the back,

         16  fill it out, provide it to the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         17                 The Committee last addressed this

         18  topic in September 1996, in an oversight hearing on

         19  the recommendations of the Mayor's Task Force on

         20  Manufacturing and Industry, issued in 1996.

         21                 This hearing will explore several

         22  issues raised by the Task Force report by recent

         23  events and published reports that have called into

         24  question the future of New York City manufacturing,

         25  and industrial section, the City's policy and
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          2  response and potential avenues to increase the

          3  viability of the City's manufacturing and industrial

          4  sector.

          5                 According to the New York City

          6  Department of Planning and Economic Development

          7  Corporation, New York City is home to over 10,000

          8  manufacturers and industrial firms in 22,000

          9  buildings, occupying about ten percent of 6.9

         10  billion square feet of total land area in the City

         11  and employ over a quarter of a million people.

         12                 In the 1950s, New York City boasted 1

         13  million manufacturing jobs and an additional 700,000

         14  jobs in the industrial sectors.

         15                 In the last 40 years, New York City

         16  has suffered a loss of approximately 1 million jobs.

         17  Manufacturing jobs are now centered in the apparel

         18  and printing industries and other sizable industry

         19  sectors, including construction, food service and

         20  television and film production.

         21                 This is not to say that the

         22  manufacturing is disappearing completely from New

         23  York City. Given the benefits New York City has to

         24  offer, such as access to markets and consumers, it

         25  should continue to be a center for manufacturing and
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          2  industry.

          3                 It is really a question as to which

          4  industries remain and can flourish. The City of New

          5  York, through its various agencies, has several tax

          6  incentives, bonding and discretionary assistance,

          7  and real estate programs to facilitate the

          8  development of the manufacturing and industrial

          9  sectors, including the Industrial and Commercial

         10  Incentive Program, ICIP, which is reauthorized by

         11  the State Legislature and the City Council this

         12  summer, passed by this Committee incidently.

         13                 The New York City Industrial

         14  Development Agency, IDA, In Place Industrial Parks,

         15  IPIP, the Energy Cost Savings Programs, ECSP, and

         16  the former Business Relocation Assistant

         17  Corporation, BRAC, which was not renewed by the

         18  Giuliani Administration after expiration on January

         19  1 of '98.

         20                 One area that advocates for

         21  manufacturing and industrial business have a growing

         22  concern is the need for affordable and appropriate

         23  industrial and manufacturing space.

         24                 This concern was underscored by the

         25  zoning changes considered by City Planning
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          2  Department in 1995 as part of the adult

          3  entertainment zoning, and in 1996, it is a component

          4  of the Mayor's retail strategy plan.

          5                 The interaction of City zoning

          6  policies, real estate costs, the manufacturing

          7  industrial retention was highlighted by the Chelsea

          8  rezoning plan recently approved by the City Planning

          9  in July '99 and by the City Council, September of

         10  '99.

         11                 Before our first witness, it is my

         12  understanding that the administration will not

         13  appear at today's hearing, despite our invitation to

         14  do so.

         15                 Counsel, would you tell the Committee

         16  members why they will not appear?

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: In speaking

         18  with the Legislative Office, Mayor's Office of

         19  Legislative Affairs, they indicated that they could

         20  not provide witnesses or testimony for the hearing,

         21  due to not having staff available due to the

         22  Thanksgiving holiday season to be able to provide

         23  testimony on the policies and procedures.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: If that is the

         25  case, we are in trouble, because we have the
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          2  Christmas season coming up, we have Mother's Day and

          3  Father's Day, we have Memorial Day, the 4th of July,

          4  Arbor Day, and if I can have some time I will think

          5  of a few more days. That is unacceptable.

          6                 Okay, having that said, I am also

          7  joined by Council Member Fisher from Brooklyn. And I

          8  want you to relay that message to the

          9  Administration, Counsel.

         10                 Our first witness, we will bring two

         11  here, will be Daniel Hart, AGC, and Oliver Lednicer,

         12  Manhattan New York City.

         13                 MR. HORT: Thank you. It is Hort,

         14  H-o-r-t.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         16                 Sir, your name?

         17                 MF. LEDNICER: Oliver Lednicer.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay. Would

         19  you like to go first, Mr. Hort?

         20                 MR. HORT: Sure, why not.

         21                 Good afternoon.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Incidently, we

         23  are also joined by Council Member Golden of

         24  Brooklyn.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: I am sorry. Go

          3  ahead.

          4                 MR. HORT: Mr. Chairman, distinguished

          5  Subcommittee members, my name is Daniel Hort. I am

          6  with Enterprise. We are a pretty large printer here

          7  in Manhattan. I am testifying today as a member of

          8  the Association of Graphic Communications, as a

          9  member of the Board of Directors, as well as the

         10  Chair for the Public Affairs Committee. AGC is a

         11  Manhattan-based trade association established in

         12  1865, and it represents the interests of New York

         13  City's graphic communications industry.

         14                 Many have stated before the City

         15  Council on earlier occasions here that there is a

         16  rumor that manufacturing is dead or the print is

         17  dead or that there are no more printers in New York

         18  City. I believe this is not the case. The truth is

         19  that New York City is the number one print center in

         20  the country. It has approximately 1,900 printing

         21  establishments shipping $4.6 billion annually and

         22  employing 37,000 people, 65 percent of whom are

         23  minorities. It is also the employer within the City

         24  and State's entire manufacturing sector.

         25                 Let me put it in perspective. If you
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          2  combine the print sales of New York, Los Angeles and

          3  Chicago, that is going to account for more than half

          4  of the printing that is done in the entire United

          5  States.

          6                 The clientele are primarily economic

          7  stabilizers, financial, publishing, advertising,

          8  entertainment and retail, and if you look at any

          9  newsstand you will see racks upon racks of

         10  magazines, each is loaded with ads and perfume

         11  sampler cards, inserts. Every counter at the

         12  Department store has a point of purchase display,

         13  many stores provide printed bags and boxes, as well

         14  as catalogues, restaurants have printed menus,

         15  prescriptions are put onto a printed label,

         16  everything you buy in the grocery store is

         17  advertised as well as packaged, corporate annual

         18  reports, Wall Street prospectuses, fine art posters,

         19  street signs, even the New York Post are all

         20  manufactured in New York City.

         21                 This is why the proximity of the

         22  printers to their clients is of paramount importance

         23  to their ability to survive and thrive, especially

         24  in an industry which is by nature time-sensitive and

         25  highly competitive.
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          2                 Now, how does this relate to the real

          3  estate issue? The industry is currently under siege,

          4  not just by technology advancements or its ability

          5  to survive the economic ebb and flow, but by an

          6  unprecedented real estate pressure and rezoning

          7  initiatives that are taking place right now.

          8                 Landlords throughout Manhattan are

          9  closing their doors to printing and other kinds of

         10  manufacturing. Over 100 printing facilities in

         11  Hudson, Varrick and Canal Street areas employing

         12  over 2,000 people were told last year by Trinity

         13  Real Estate that their leases will not be renewed

         14  because Trinity feels that other types of tenants

         15  are going to yield higher rents.

         16                 Over 30 more companies employing an

         17  additional 700 people were put at risk this spring

         18  in Chelsea due to the rezoning initiatives. Their

         19  buildings will be or have been rezoned from the M1

         20  designation to residential and/or commercial status.

         21                 The commercial status is merely going

         22  to allow landlords to bring in any type of tenant

         23  that they want, and the Hudson Varrick scenario that

         24  is employed by Trinity Church is going to happen all

         25  over again.
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          2                 The residential status means that

          3  former manufacturing buildings will now become

          4  luxury loft condos. The possibility of luxury

          5  housing and/or commercial office space increases

          6  land values and this is pressuring landlords to seek

          7  higher rents and these are rents that most

          8  manufacturers are unable to pay.

          9                 While neither City Council nor the

         10  City Planning can control New York State's -- New

         11  York City's real estate market, it can and must

         12  control the extent to which it opens the

         13  neighborhoods to real estate development, especially

         14  when it is destroying jobs.

         15                 Once manufacturing is forced from

         16  Manhattan, it is never going to return. There are

         17  little or no manufacturing buildings left in

         18  Manhattan to move to affordable or otherwise, and

         19  the available space in the outer boroughs is at a

         20  premium as it is. Add to this the estimated $200,000

         21  it takes to move one decent sized printing press,

         22  and it becomes readily apparent while print may

         23  indeed become dead in New York City fairly soon.

         24                 A good number of companies will

         25  either be forced to move out of the City limits to
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          2  New Jersey or others, or they will go out of

          3  business all together.

          4                 A $4 billion industry that is

          5  offering high salaried positions and employing

          6  minority populations, as well as offering job

          7  opportunities and in fact career opportunities for

          8  the City's youth is going to be lost forever, all

          9  due to a cyclical real estate crunch that is

         10  happening currently.

         11                 Thanks to the leadership efforts of

         12  Council Members McCaffrey, Eisland and Quinn, an $8

         13  million relocation fund and special task force on

         14  printing that is being chaired by NYC EDC President,

         15  Michael Carey, was created by City Council this

         16  September. That $8 million may not be enough to help

         17  all of the people who are going to need assistance

         18  in the long term, but we hope that through these

         19  vehicles and by the outcome of today's hearing that

         20  we can find a well-balanced solution to this

         21  daunting situation that we are confronted with.

         22                 I thank you for your consideration.

         23                 MR. LEDNICER: Good afternoon. Thank

         24  you for giving me an opportunity to testify.

         25                 My name is Oliver Lednicer, I am the
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          2  Chairman of the Manufacturing Association of New

          3  York City. I am also the President of the Kreisman

          4  Company, we are the manufacturers Redweld products,

          5  which if you are an attorney you might be familiar

          6  with them. We manufacture legal supplies to

          7  attorneys, 16,000 attorneys throughout the United

          8  States and Europe.

          9                 The company started 65 years ago, not

         10  too far from where we are sitting right now, as a

         11  small loft operation. The company grew, it was

         12  purchased by major corporations several times over,

         13  and 20 years ago we wound up at 160-170 Varrick

         14  Street, Trinity Church was our landlord.

         15                 We occupied 45,000 square feet on

         16  Varrick Street and another 25,000 square feet in

         17  Long Island City in a warehouse.

         18                 After 20 years in this building,

         19  Trinity Church decided to kick us out. They found a

         20  loophole in our lease, exercised the loophole and

         21  told us that if we didn't move we would have to pay

         22  a penalty of one and a half million dollars.

         23                 Obviously we had to move and we had

         24  to start scrambling around for space.

         25                 Let me tell you what is involved here
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          2  though. We are talking 219 people, every one of whom

          3  a citizen of New York City. Seventy-two percent of

          4  them are female, 28 percent of them are male.

          5                 The minority breakdown is Hispanic 82

          6  percent, African-American eight percent, Asian three

          7  percent, white seven percent. Average wage is $12.28

          8  cents an hour.

          9                 Everything that we do in the company

         10  is bilingual, because most of these people are not

         11  well versed in English. However, we are providing

         12  219 jobs.

         13                 Over the last five years we spent

         14  $100,000 in New York City mostly with community

         15  colleges training our people and upgrading their

         16  skills, teaching them English, teaching them

         17  mathematical skills, we did it for selfish purposes,

         18  we wanted to improve the workforce.

         19                 During this time, as I said, we have

         20  grown. The point of interest, we paid $833,000 in

         21  sales taxes, $78,000 in unemployment tax, $31,000 in

         22  rent tax, this is all per year. Our employees paid

         23  New York State taxes of $157,000, and to New York

         24  City they paid $77,000. If we were to move, New York

         25  City would lose $1.1 million.
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          2                 As another interesting point, we

          3  would like to think that we provide good benefits to

          4  our employees, therefore the New York City Medicaid

          5  program is not burdened by hospital cost. We spent

          6  in 1998 $533,000 for medical benefits for our

          7  employees.

          8                 I said, however, we were faced with

          9  the prospect if we had to move, our friends across

         10  the street heard what was happening across the

         11  river, heard what was happening on Varrick Street,

         12  and we were actively courted by New Jersey. New

         13  Jersey offered us $1.2 million to come to New

         14  Jersey.

         15                 We met with New York City, gave them

         16  pretty much the presentation I just gave you,

         17  explaining what is involved, New York City offered

         18  us $30,000.

         19                 I will say, however, New York State

         20  stepped in quite handsomely to help us.

         21                 However, we also felt, in spite of

         22  the fact that we would not be getting this money if

         23  we moved to New Jersey, that we have an obligation

         24  to 219 people who work for us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: May I
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          2  interrupt you for one second?

          3                 MR. LEDNICER: Sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: How did New

          5  York State step in handsomely? What did they offer

          6  you?

          7                 MR. LEDNICER: EDC came in and helped

          8  us with training grants and moving grants and

          9  capital improvement grants.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Which was a

         11  total of how much?

         12                 MR. LEDNICER: Five-hundred thousand

         13  dollars.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Five-hundred

         15  thousand.

         16                 MR. LEDNICER: Approximately.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay. Pardon

         18  me. Go ahead.

         19                 MR. LEDNICER: We felt that we

         20  definitely had an obligation to our employees that

         21  had been with us an average of over eight years, we

         22  have people who have worked with us for 20 years, 30

         23  years, they helped our company grow. We knew that if

         24  we moved to New Jersey, 219 people in New York City

         25  would be unemployed, and the truth of the matter is,
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          2  that our Latin American ladies who are somewhat

          3  bilingual, would not become computer programmers or

          4  stockbrokers. They would be unemployed.

          5                 At this point we decided to stay in

          6  New York and we started looking for property.

          7                 Unfortunately, we had to rule out

          8  Staten Island because that was too far for our

          9  employees to commute. In all of Manhattan we could

         10  not find 90,000 square feet on one floor. This left

         11  us with the Bronx, Brooklyn and Queens. It took us

         12  close to nine months to find adequate space and our

         13  brokers tell us that we were able to secure one of

         14  the last floors, the last buildings of 90,000 square

         15  feet on one floor. It happened that we moved to Long

         16  Island City, to the old swing line building, we took

         17  one of the floors there. We were most fortunate to

         18  do that.

         19                 We are in there now. We are

         20  manufacturing. Luckily we are owned by a large major

         21  corporation, the cost of the move was $1.1 million.

         22  Had we not had a major corporation behind us to

         23  move, I, as president, would have had two choices to

         24  make: Move to New Jersey, or close shop. We could

         25  not afford $1.1 million for a move.
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          2                 Either decision would have meant that

          3  219 New Yorkers would have been unemployed. Chances

          4  are they would not get other work. Or if they would

          5  get work, it certainly would not be the type of work

          6  that we were providing in a manufacturing situation,

          7  probably dead-end jobs.

          8                 I represent also the Manufacturers

          9  Association of New York City and we hope that we can

         10  work together with New York City to ensure that

         11  other manufacturing companies will not have to make

         12  the choice that we had to make.

         13                 New York City always has been a City

         14  of immigrants, manufacturing always has provided

         15  jobs for immigrants and giving them the opportunity

         16  to improve the lot of themselves and their children.

         17                 What I have told you so far have been

         18  figures, dollars, let me relate a personal story

         19  which might bring this down to the personal level.

         20                 Gilma came to work for us in 1976.

         21  She came from Ecuador did not speak English, started

         22  working in the factory, $2.80 an hour. Now, this was

         23  1976. She met a man at work, they got married. Gilma

         24  took a leave of absence to have a child. She raised

         25  the child, came back, started attending the courses
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          2  that we were offering together with Bronx Community

          3  College, even though she was not fluent in English

          4  at all, because of these ESL courses she became

          5  quite fluent in English. She was promoted to the

          6  position of Quality Control Supervisor, she is now

          7  making $23,000 a year. Gilma has a daughter, her

          8  name is Valerie. Valerie went to Grand Dykes High

          9  School, then on to Syracuse University, and

         10  yesterday Gilma came to us and asked for a one-week

         11  leave of absence so she can go to Syracuse

         12  University and attend her daughter's graduation. Her

         13  daughter was receiving a master's degree in

         14  International Studies.

         15                 I like to think that I, as president

         16  of Kreisman helped make this happen. I could only

         17  help 219 jobs. We would look for New York City to

         18  protect the other people in New York City who work

         19  in manufacturing jobs.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you,

         22  sir.

         23                 Now, a couple of questions, and both

         24  of you can probably field them, since you are in the

         25  same predicament.
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          2                 The 8 million relocation fund that

          3  the Council had -- the 8 million that we had put

          4  into the Special Task Force on printing, with the

          5  EDC, for relocation money, have you used -- is that

          6  the $30,000 that the City of New York said they were

          7  going to help you with?

          8                 MR. LEDNICER: I am sorry, somebody

          9  was talking to me, I didn't hear the beginning of

         10  your question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: The $8 million

         12  that the City Council had put in last year --

         13                 MR. LEDNICER: That did not affect us

         14  at all.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Why not? If

         16  you are going to move somewhere and you are

         17  beginning negotiations with EDC and you said it cost

         18  $1.1 million to move, I would like to tap into the

         19  $8 million, what did they say?

         20                 MR. LEDNICER: Well, number one, we

         21  are not a printer.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, you are

         23  not printing.

         24                 Mr. Hort.

         25                 MR. HORT: Yes, I was going to say,
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          2  that money wouldn't have been appropriated when they

          3  made their move. They actually, as many people who

          4  were in the position to do it, have preempted

          5  waiting around for someone to help and have begun to

          6  make maneuvers to find, you know, greener pastures

          7  so-to-speak or safe ground because the climate has

          8  become very rocky and it has been a couple of years

          9  that this has begun to work its way up.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: But there is

         11  that $8 million that the Council appropriated.

         12                 MR. HORT: Yes, that was appropriated

         13  in September, I believe you moved --

         14                 MR. LEDNICER: Yes, we were way down

         15  the pike.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: You were down

         17  the pike, but it is there now, that is the point?

         18                 MR. HORT: Indeed, yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: For future

         20  reference, like tomorrow or you know --

         21                 MR. HORT: I am not sure that money

         22  has actually been -- there are people here who might

         23  have a better -- I am not sure that money has

         24  actually been spread out yet.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: So the main
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          2  problem with printing particularly is relocating,

          3  number one.

          4                 Number two, the majority of printers,

          5  if I can look at that map over there, seem to be in

          6  Manhattan because proximity, you know, location I

          7  guess is, to business where you gentlemen and women

          8  need to be, Wall Street, Advertising, et cetera,

          9  that is who you do your printing for, and anybody

         10  else I guess in Manhattan.

         11                 MR. HORT: Well, there is something

         12  called Allied Trades in printing which play a very

         13  large part in the printing process but is not

         14  necessarily ink on paper. So, a lot of those

         15  businesses, binders, dye cutters, people of that

         16  nature, engravers, people who do things, specialty,

         17  are definitely part of the print industry but they

         18  are not printers, per se, they are what you would

         19  refer to as allied trades and they also play a very

         20  important part in the role of the print industry in

         21  New York City, and a lot of them, in fact, maybe

         22  even more of those types than printers are in danger

         23  of being relocated or being forced out of business.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: And what is

         25  the borough, when the relocation comes, recently,
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          2  say a year or so, maybe even two years hence, or as

          3  of right now, where are you looking for

          4  predominantly? Anywhere that can give you a good

          5  price?

          6                 MR. HORT: Well, personally, I am not

          7  looking at all. I am not in any jeopardy. I actually

          8  own my own real estate and I am not in any danger of

          9  being pushed out.

         10                 Most printers and allied trades feel

         11  that the Long Island City area is the most

         12  attractive. There has been a lot of talk about

         13  things coming up in the Bronx. I personally think

         14  there are some real good things going on over there.

         15  But I would say, if pushed on it, 99 percent of the

         16  people who have to move, if given the option, and

         17  not all of them are going to be given that option,

         18  they would like to move to Long Island City, that

         19  seems to be the first stop.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Because of the

         21  availability of manufacturing space?

         22                 MR. HORT: That. It's proximity to New

         23  York, and I also believe, in all candor, that it is

         24  sexier than a lot of the other options, that the

         25  Bronx is not attractive to people for reasons of
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          2  aesthetic as much as practicality.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Be careful

          4  now.

          5                 MR. HORT: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: And Staten

          7  Island?

          8                 MR. HORT: Staten Island is considered

          9  to be off too far and inaccessible, but has offered

         10  up some good, viable real estate.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: And Brooklyn

         12  does too, and Brooklyn is even closer to Manhattan

         13  than Staten Island.

         14                 I am not shilling for Brooklyn, since

         15  I am from Staten Island, but the majority of the

         16  members of this Committee are from Brooklyn, and you

         17  know the EDZ's, and I think Long Island City is an

         18  EDZ, Economic Development Zone, and we have Economic

         19  Development Zones in every borough except Manhattan.

         20  So, the benefits are there to move to the outer

         21  boroughs. Economic Development Zone certainly gives

         22  tax credits, and energy tax credits, et cetera, as

         23  you know, you are aware of this.

         24                 So, you didn't mention that if you

         25  had to move to New Jersey because they were going to
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          2  give you one point some odd million dollars to move,

          3  people would be losing jobs, yet you had mentioned

          4  Staten Island, and believe me, I am from Staten

          5  Island, so State Island is just as far, if not a

          6  little less farther than New Jersey. So, I don't

          7  understand. You are saying on the one hand that you

          8  didn't want to move to Staten Island because it was

          9  too far away for the commute, and on the other hand

         10  you said would have possibly went to New Jersey.

         11                 MR. LEDNICER: No, we knew that if we

         12  went to New Jersey we would lose 219 people. We made

         13  up our minds for that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: But what if

         15  you moved to Staten Island?

         16                 MR. LEDNICER: We would lose them

         17  also. In either case we would have lost them also.

         18  It happens to be too far of a commute.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: All right.

         20                 MR. LEDNICER: It would have to be a

         21  fact of life with our people.

         22                 We took a poll and we knew that

         23  anybody, that if we didn't stay on a major subway

         24  line, we lost them. Which is the case of very many

         25  companies like ours, people don't have cars.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: In Brooklyn,

          3  the Brooklyn Army Terminal is set up I believe for

          4  industries such as yours, and there is an EDZ in Red

          5  Hook now for organizations like yours and

          6  manufacturing, have you actually, the industry, sat

          7  down, other than looking at Long Island City, I am

          8  looking at the map here now, because of the

          9  overabundance, and they are old, I know Long Island

         10  City used to be an old, old, manufacturing area and

         11  it seems to be gentrifying now because of available

         12  space, older space being rehabilitated, but the

         13  other boroughs certainly, although it seems to me

         14  that you have told Staten Island no, which I believe

         15  is a mistake.

         16                 What other boroughs do you believe

         17  other than the Bronx; Brooklyn no?

         18                 MR. HORT: I believe that actually

         19  everything that you have said is the truth, and that

         20  in fact you have begun to start citing places that

         21  people are looking at and I believe people will

         22  ultimately have to relocate to, because the reality

         23  is that regardless of choice or taste or any of

         24  that, they are not staying in Manhattan, these

         25  people are being pushed out, and the real issue at
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          2  hand is financing.

          3                 I think that if offered opportunities

          4  to go, people will go to any of the above-mentioned.

          5  I do think there are a lot of hurdles in terms of

          6  perception, that each one of them has to get over

          7  that Staten Island is too far, that the Bronx is too

          8  dangerous, that the Brooklyn Navy Yard is not really

          9  accessible to the subways, these issues are going to

         10  have to be overcome because I do believe that these

         11  are the places where people are going to have to

         12  relocate to. And as I say, the real issue is setting

         13  it up and offering people packages that are viable

         14  so that people can make that maneuver, and then

         15  hopefully be able to keep their doors open long

         16  enough to maintain business while they wait for the

         17  perception to change so that people can say, hey, I

         18  can go to the Bronx and get my printing done, or

         19  Staten Island or Brooklyn, but I do believe that all

         20  of the places you have mentioned people are looking

         21  at, and I believe they are all viable.

         22                 MR. LEDNICER: I would like to add one

         23  thing. I think what is also very important, if a

         24  company moves and spends the kind of money we spent,

         25  $1.2 million, we would like to have some assurance
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          2  that when our lease is over or up, that that area is

          3  not rezoned for a residential area, so that suddenly

          4  we go through the entire situation that we did

          5  before with Trinity Church. Once we invest in a

          6  move, we want to know that we are going to be there

          7  as long as the company exists.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay.

          9                 Council Member DiBrienza, from

         10  Brooklyn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I just

         12  wanted to comment, as I reviewed the notes and

         13  listened to the end of the testimony. The crunch on

         14  space, in other words, in Chelsea and some of the

         15  downtown, you know, Canal Street, Varrick Street and

         16  others, and specific to the printing industry, is

         17  such that you don't think you can survive in those

         18  locations in the foreseeable future. In other words,

         19  you will be priced out. It is not -- you don't have

         20  a sense that it is a maybe yes, maybe no, you

         21  believe it has already begun and you will be priced

         22  out?

         23                 MR. HORT: I believe it will be priced

         24  out and there is a lot of incentives to push out

         25  where people could maybe afford they are not being
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          2  offered the opportunity --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Because all

          4  of the incentives that drive this Administration

          5  revolve around residential conversions and high-end

          6  luxury developments and the like.

          7                 MR. HORT: It is also the reality of

          8  the real estate industry itself more than just

          9  politics.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Okay. And

         11  the Relocation Assistance Corporation that had

         12  existed that does not have the same level of funding

         13  that it once had, may or may not be able to be of

         14  help because there is not enough money, or because

         15  there is not enough alternative locations for them

         16  to relocate you to, in your opinion?

         17                 MR. HORT: Well, money probably more

         18  than location. As I have stated already, I think

         19  that there are many viable locations within the city

         20  limits, they are not necessarily what people would

         21  consider their first choices, but I am actually

         22  personally more interested in offering them

         23  something that is real and hoping to get the

         24  industry to back it up, and if we can weather the

         25  storm, I believe that the culture of doing business
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          2  will change and people will see these places as

          3  viable print locations, and provided that they don't

          4  move and get kicked out again, they may be able to

          5  plant roots, just as they had prior to this in the

          6  old printing districts that are now largely

          7  residential and commercial real estate, and may

          8  remain a vibrant industry in the City.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes, thank

         12  you. Thank you, gentlemen.

         13                 We will hear from Adam Friedman, New

         14  York Industrial Retention Network. Sara Garretson,

         15  Industrial Technology Assistance Corp, and Jonathan

         16  Bowles, Center for an Urban Future.

         17                 Adam, would you like to start?

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Sure. Thanks very much.

         19  I will try and summarize the testimony as much as

         20  possible.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         22                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you, Chairman

         23  O'Donovan, members of the Committee, for organizing

         24  this Committee and giving us the opportunity to

         25  testify.
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          2                 I am Adam Friedman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Before you

          4  start, we are also joined by Councilman White from

          5  Queens.

          6                 I am sorry, go ahead.

          7                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Sure.

          8                 I am Adam Friedman, I am Executive

          9  Director of the New York Industrial Retention

         10  Network, a Citywide economic organization that's

         11  mission is to strengthen manufacturing, save

         12  manufacturing jobs and build the capacity of network

         13  participants.

         14                 NYIRN's network includes well over

         15  100 local development organizations, labor unions

         16  and real estate managers that act as an early

         17  warning network to identify companies that are at

         18  risk of leaving the City, intervene and develop

         19  strategies to help those companies.

         20                 Since inception, just three years

         21  ago, NYIRN has had contact with well over 500

         22  companies. If this were almost any other City in the

         23  United States, our manufacturing sector would be

         24  revered for the depth and breadth of its creativity,

         25  diversity and strength. Along with that respect
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          2  would come public support to help residents of this

          3  City to capitalize on the employment and

          4  entrepreneurial opportunities presented by

          5  manufacturing. But this is New York, and

          6  manufacturing is eclipsed by much glitzier

          7  activities. A little prospective here might help.

          8                 New York manufacturing sector

          9  employes 255,000 people, roughly the same number of

         10  people as in securities, TV, radio and motion

         11  picture industries combined.

         12                 Average annual wages at 39,000,

         13  generally, plus benefits. That can be compared with,

         14  for example, retailing where average annual wages

         15  are 21,000.

         16                 New York City is a city of

         17  immigrants, and fifty-two percent of those residents

         18  with limited English skills who work are employed in

         19  manufacturing.

         20                 Of course, all of the benefits of the

         21  manufacturing sector would not justify public

         22  support if its demise were inevitable.

         23                 The City should not prop up a dying

         24  industry. But there is tremendous vitality in New

         25  York's manufacturing sector, and the opportunities
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          2  for growth are real.

          3                 In April NYIRN released The Little

          4  Manufacturer That Could, a study of the status of

          5  manufacturing. It included a survey of 230 companies

          6  which found that approximately 80 percent planned to

          7  reinvest in their equipment and a third planned to

          8  reinvest in their buildings.

          9                 This reinvestment demonstrates the

         10  owner's faith in their company's future and their

         11  commitment to New York City. Dying industries don't

         12  display this type of reinvestment.

         13                 NYIRN is about to release a study of

         14  New York's food processing industry, which is

         15  growing rapidly. The industry has added 1,500 jobs

         16  over the past seven years, and based on our

         17  interviews, we are projecting it is going to add

         18  another 1,000 jobs over the next two years.

         19                 Domestic export is a rapidly growing

         20  segment of this industry's market. Forty-eight

         21  percent of the companies derive 40 percent of their

         22  business from outside New York. We could leave this

         23  building, walk seven blocks north of here and come

         24  to a baker who is shipping cakes and pies all over

         25  this country. I can't tell you why Chicago can't
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          2  make its own chocolate cake, I know that New York is

          3  hot and people want to buy goods made in New York

          4  City.

          5                 These are very, very positive

          6  indicators for the future of New York's

          7  manufacturing sector, but they are threatened by the

          8  growing shortage of decent manufacturing space. The

          9  space crunch, not foreign competition, is probably

         10  the most significant challenge facing New York's

         11  manufacturers.

         12                 What is left of New York's

         13  manufacturing sector is no longer really vulnerable

         14  to foreign competition. In some instances, yes, but

         15  in most cases they found their niche, they want to

         16  be here. They want to be in proximity to New York's

         17  design, marketing fashion and finance talent.

         18                 How real is the space crunch?

         19  Attached to my testimony is a list of 30 companies

         20  that have left the city within just the past two

         21  years, primarily because they couldn't find space.

         22                 I have not included companies such as

         23  Swing Line, which left largely for other reasons.

         24  This list is clearly incomplete, but these 30

         25  companies accounted for 2,000 jobs.
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          2                 Council Member DiBrienza asked a

          3  moment ago about space outside of New York City. One

          4  of the things you will notice from the list is most

          5  now they can't find space to relocate outside of

          6  Manhattan.

          7                 Today you will hear testimony from

          8  companies that have successfully hunted down new

          9  space, and they are the lucky survivors. NYIRN

         10  worked with many of them, at any given point in time

         11  NYIRN is working with 40, 50 companies that are

         12  looking to relocate.

         13                 Our experience has taught us a few

         14  things that have policy and program implications.

         15  City and state policy currently favors companies

         16  that are buying or developing their own space, and

         17  this may be a fundamental flaw in the City's policy.

         18  Most companies prefer to rent and they should put

         19  their money into equipment, training and marketing

         20  to increase their competitiveness and not tie it up

         21  in real estate.

         22                 Second, moving is traumatic. It

         23  disrupts not only cashflow, but tears apart the

         24  relationships that companies have built up for

         25  decades.
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          2                 Third, other states are constantly

          3  courting New York's companies. A manufacturer

          4  employing over 50 people in New York is just as

          5  likely to have met a Governor or a Commissioner from

          6  another state as one from New York, and many states

          7  will fully reimburse a company for its moving

          8  expenses.

          9                 NYIRN has met with local development

         10  organizations and developers and unions in every

         11  borough, and has compiled a series of

         12  recommendations for dealing with this real estate

         13  issue.

         14                 First, the City should support the

         15  creation of a trust for industrial space. A new

         16  not-for-profit entity that could acquire, renovate

         17  and manage industrial properties, either alone or in

         18  partnership with others.

         19                 Just like the City and State helped

         20  build the capacity of local groups to develop

         21  affordable housing, there has to be a similar effort

         22  in economic develop to create institutions that can

         23  develop industrial space and lease it to

         24  manufacturers.

         25                 Second, the City needs to change the
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          2  industrial and commercial incentives program so that

          3  smaller tenants who do renovations in larger

          4  buildings can attain a pro rata share of the

          5  benefits.

          6                 Also, the City should seek changes to

          7  the industrial development bond to allow third

          8  parties to develop multi-teneted space, rather than

          9  forcing the manufacturers to becoming developers.

         10                 Third, the City has to admit there is

         11  a problem and stop claiming there is a surplus of

         12  space and reform its land use policies.

         13                 The City should stop dumping its

         14  unwanted uses from pornography, to super stores, to

         15  waste transfer stations and the latest proposal for

         16  homeless shelters in manufacturing zones. This sends

         17  an extraordinarily negative message to the

         18  manufacturers, destabilizes the real estate market

         19  and consumes valuable space.

         20                 Finally, as the City rewrites the

         21  zoning resolution, which it is currently doing, it

         22  should create super end zones or planned

         23  manufacturing districts, similar to those in

         24  Chicago, to preserve industrial areas against

         25  commercial conversion.
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          2                 As part of this planning effort the

          3  City should target areas for specific uses, such as

          4  apparel, food and metal working.

          5                 For example, as you have heard from

          6  Mr. Hort and Lednicer, the printing industry faces

          7  some incredible threats at this point in time,

          8  threatened by the conversion of literally millions

          9  of feet of manufacturing space.

         10                 Over 100 companies employing

         11  thousands of people are at risk. Printers need to be

         12  clustered together to obtain the supplies that they

         13  need and the services that they need. And you will

         14  see that there is a map attached to my testimony

         15  which shows where printing jobs are located in New

         16  York and you will see how incredibly tightly

         17  concentrated these jobs are. Printers derive

         18  competitive advantages from being clustered together

         19  like this, and as a matter of policy, as a matter of

         20  planning we should seek to recreate clusters

         21  throughout the boroughs and foster this type of

         22  clustering.

         23                 Unlike the challenges that were

         24  presented by far in competition, preserving and

         25  encouraging development of industrial space is
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          2  within the powers of City government.

          3                 I hope these recommendations will be

          4  useful and we would be delighted to work with the

          5  City Council to explore their implementation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

          7                 MS. GARRETSON: Good afternoon. And

          8  thank you, to all of you on the Committee, and to

          9  Chairman O'Donovan for holding this hearing.

         10                 My name is Sara Garretson, I am the

         11  Executive Director of ITAP, the Industrial

         12  Technology Assistance Corporation. We are a Citywide

         13  economic development organization, which focuses on

         14  retaining and manufacturing jobs in New York City,

         15  by helping local firms to improve their

         16  productivity, apply new technology and growth

         17  through sales and new product development.

         18                 This is a tough place for

         19  manufacturers to do business, and we try to help

         20  them to make money here so that they stay here and

         21  they grow here.

         22                 We have been in operation for over 12

         23  years, and during that period have delivered

         24  measurable improvement to over 1,000 firms.

         25  Resulting in significant job creation and retention.
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          2                 We are also part of the Nationwide

          3  Network of Organizations called the Manufacturing

          4  Extension Partnership funded under the federal

          5  government.

          6                 Today the New York City Economy is

          7  booming. But the success of the fire sector and the

          8  surge in Silicone Alley business has a  downside.

          9  Their demand for converted prime industrial real

         10  estate is threatening the City's manufacturing

         11  sector.

         12                 Today I want to talk about that

         13  manufacturing sector, its characteristic, its role

         14  in the City economy and why you should care enough

         15  about manufacturing jobs to take action to retain

         16  these businesses in New York City.

         17                 Today there are approximately 11,000

         18  manufacturing firms in New York City who provide a

         19  quarter million jobs for New Yorkers.

         20                 Fifty-one percent of those 11,000

         21  firms are located in Manhattan with 24 percent in

         22  Brooklyn, 19 percent in Queens, five percent in the

         23  Bronx and one percent in Staten Island.

         24                 I brought with me today a map showing

         25  the location of manufacturing establishments in New
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          2  York City.

          3                 If you get close enough to take a

          4  look at some point this afternoon, you will see

          5  there is at least one firm in every single Council

          6  district in the City.

          7                 We have got in the background a

          8  Council district boundary so you can get, you can

          9  find your districts and see how many firms you can

         10  find.

         11                 But as you can see, most of the firms

         12  are located in the very areas which are undergoing

         13  intense real estate pressure. Chelsea, Lower

         14  Manhattan, Long Island City, Williamsburg and

         15  Greenpoint in Brooklyn.

         16                 As industrial real estate is steadily

         17  converted to other uses, both commercial and

         18  residential, displaced manufacturers have no place

         19  to go.

         20                 We are losing millions of square feet

         21  of industrial space, but there is no development of

         22  new space.

         23                 Manufacturing jobs have traditionally

         24  played an important role in New York City's economy,

         25  and I think that stories that Oliver Lednicer told
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          2  is very illustrative of that.

          3                 Traditionally, and to this day, new

          4  immigrants, both men and women, have started off on

          5  the ladder of success in these blue collar jobs. It

          6  is their entry point into the economy and their root

          7  to the middle class.

          8                 Manufacturing firms provide a range

          9  of positions, from low skill to highly technical

         10  jobs with high salaries, and the business owners

         11  encourage their workforce to move up the ladder.

         12                 Manufacturing continues to be the

         13  engine that provides jobs for New York residents for

         14  many countries and for non-immigrant residents who

         15  choose to work with their hands or who lack the

         16  skill or education to fill today's hi-tech jobs.

         17                 These are the same jobs that the

         18  Council concerned itself with last year in its

         19  hollow middle study.

         20                 Most of the 11,000 firms remaining in

         21  the City are small, 96 percent have fewer than 100

         22  employees and over half have over less than 25

         23  employees. These are not firms which have the

         24  capacity to develop or construct their own space,

         25  most of them need reasonably priced rental space
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          2  with good loading capacity and easy access to their

          3  customers.

          4                 There is a wide diversity of

          5  manufacturing which remains in the City. Steinway

          6  still manufacturers their pianos in Astoria, Eagle

          7  Electric still makes electrical connectors in Long

          8  Island City. But there are also thousands of small

          9  family-owned businesses producing dresses, bags,

         10  food, furniture, lighting, medical equipment,

         11  jewelry and a host of other products.

         12                 At present 35 percent of the firms

         13  are in the apparel industry, 12 percent in the

         14  printing and publishing industry and four percent in

         15  food.

         16                 But I prefer to think of our local

         17  industry in a different way. New York enjoys a rich

         18  network of small firms who rely on each other to

         19  bring their product to market.

         20                 The firm which produces methyl

         21  products relies on the plater to finish them. If we

         22  lose one part of this chain, we may lose the whole

         23  chain.

         24                 Furthermore, the manufacturers are

         25  important links in the supply chains for the primary
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          2  driver industries. For example, printers serve the

          3  advertising and financial services industries. The

          4  food companies are an important component of the

          5  tourism industry. The real estate industry relies on

          6  a host of architectural metal working, wood working

          7  and glass working firms to supply the contractors

          8  who complete both new construction and renovation.

          9                 The manufacturers are part of our

         10  larger economy, and those more visible industries

         11  also need them here and need them near.

         12                 These firms make frequent trips to

         13  their Manhattan customers and in many instances

         14  their Manhattan customers are making frequent trips

         15  to them as well. They cannot afford to be located

         16  too far from each other.

         17                 There are many who say that

         18  manufacturing is the dying economy. Well, they are

         19  wrong. Last year ITAC completed a study of growing

         20  manufacturing firms. We found that there were more

         21  than 900 small manufacturing firms that had grown

         22  more than 20 percent over the prior three years.

         23                 They were expanding at more than

         24  twice the rate of growth in the overall economy.

         25  Even more impressive, over 300 of them have doubled
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          2  their sales during the prior three years, and this

          3  was before the economy had started to heat up.

          4                 While you lose the 25-employee firm,

          5  which is doubling their size every three years, you

          6  are losing a firm who will grow to hire 200

          7  employees within the next decade. You lose ten of

          8  them and you have lost the potential of 2,000 jobs.

          9  Think about how much we invest in the city to retain

         10  2,000 jobs, which by the way ten years down the pike

         11  mysteriously disappeared across the river to some

         12  place else in too many instances. So, the issue is,

         13  do we have the will to retain manufacturing in New

         14  York City?

         15                 Other large cities, including Los

         16  Angeles, Chicago, have opted to invest in retaining

         17  manufacturing jobs, and they have met with

         18  considerable success.

         19                 Can we afford to do less?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         21                 MR. BOWLES: Good afternoon. My name

         22  is Jonathan Bowles, I am the Research Director of

         23  the Center for an Urban Future, a non-profit policy

         24  think tank that has issued a number of studies on

         25  economic development in job creation strategies in
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          2  New York City.

          3                 I want to first commend this City and

          4  Chairman O'Donovan for calling this hearing. I am

          5  glad to note that at least one branch of City

          6  government is interested in the future of

          7  Manufacturing.

          8                 During the course of my research on

          9  the topic of manufacturing in New York City, I have

         10  interviewed local development officials, planners,

         11  economic development officials and business owners

         12  in all five boroughs.

         13                 Virtually everyone I spoke with

         14  reached the same conclusion - manufacturing

         15  companies throughout the City are doing better than

         16  they have in years, but an alarming number of them

         17  are being squeezed by skyrocketing real estate

         18  prices and a serious shortage of affordable real

         19  estate.

         20                 The sad result is that more and more

         21  growing manufacturing companies are moving their

         22  businesses and their jobs out of New York City,

         23  simply because they cannot find space to expand or

         24  relocate their business within the five boroughs.

         25                 This is not the first time that
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          2  rising real estate prices have affected

          3  manufacturing companies in New York.

          4                 During the 1980s real estate boom,

          5  dozens of Manhattan-based manufacturers were forced

          6  to relocate to the other boroughs as industrial

          7  buildings were converted into residential lofts and

          8  office space for service-related funds.

          9                 The difference now is that the real

         10  estate crunch is not only affecting companies in

         11  Manhattan. Indeed there is a dire shortage of

         12  suitable manufacturing space in most of the

         13  traditional manufacturing hubs in the other

         14  boroughs.

         15                 In Queens the Boroughwide vacancy

         16  rate for industrial space shrunk by 30 percent

         17  between 1995 and 1998 to 9.4 percent.

         18                 In Brooklyn, the Boroughwide vacancy

         19  rate for industrial property dropped to 10.9 percent

         20  in 1998, from 13.3 percent the year before to 15.1

         21  percent in 1996. The vacancy rate is much lower in

         22  these boroughs most desirable industrial

         23  neighborhoods, and there is virtually no available

         24  industrial space in key waterfront areas along the

         25  Brooklyn and Queens waterfront from Sunset Park to
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          2  Long Island City.

          3                 All of the in place industrial parks

          4  in these areas, the Hunt's Point Industrial Market

          5  in the Bronx, the Southwest Brooklyn In Place

          6  Industrial Park in Sunset Park and the East

          7  Williamsburg In Place Industrial Park are all at

          8  capacity.

          9                 In the Bronx more than 40 companies

         10  that would like to expand within the borough

         11  relocate from outside of New York have been waiting

         12  for months for space to open up. And in Staten

         13  Island local development officials have had to turn

         14  away several hundred companies looking for quality

         15  industrial space in the last couple of years, simply

         16  because it wasn't available.

         17                 With nowhere to go in the City more

         18  and more growing manufacturing companies are forced

         19  to relocate out of New York taking their jobs with

         20  them.

         21                 The stream of manufacturing companies

         22  that are leaving the City and the number of

         23  departing firms is likely to only increase as the

         24  red hot real estate market continues to push

         25  printers, food manufacturers, garment companies and
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          2  furniture makers out of Manhattan and prime

          3  industrial areas in the other Boroughs.

          4                 And I wanted to add that there has

          5  been a lot of talk of printers in Lower Manhattan

          6  that had been pushed out because of the real estate

          7  pressures.

          8                 I currently am working on a report

          9  about the garment industry in New York City which

         10  makes up a huge proportion of New York's

         11  manufacturing sector, and so many garment firms in

         12  Manhattan are facing the same pressures that

         13  printers were over the last couple of years.

         14                 I know the City Council has had

         15  hearings on problems the printers have been having,

         16  garment industry companies are having the same thing

         17  that has happened to them in the garment center, in

         18  Chinatown, those areas are vastly changing very

         19  rapidly.

         20                 Garment companies are either going

         21  out of business or they are moving out of the City.

         22  Many of them are second and third generation

         23  companies that simply can't afford the several

         24  hundred thousand dollars to a million dollars it

         25  costs to move. Many of them are able to access
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          2  $30,000 from the Business Relocation Assistance

          3  Corporation from New York City, but there is a

          4  limited amount of funds and that program is going to

          5  be dying very soon, and it takes quite awhile for

          6  those companies to access $30,000, and I want to add

          7  that $30,000 is only a small fraction of what it

          8  costs for these companies to move out of the City

          9  and many of them are choosing to go out of business

         10  instead of moving their company.

         11                 I am going to skip a little bit and

         12  talk about suggestions. The City has provided or

         13  agreed to provide nearly $2 million in financial

         14  incentive to a handful of financial and media

         15  companies that threatened to leave New York. It must

         16  now begin to dedicate the same emergency an

         17  commitment to addressing the problems that are

         18  threatening to drive out hundreds of small

         19  manufacturing companies that actually want to remain

         20  in New York.

         21                 Because most New York City

         22  manufacturers are small, these problems cannot be

         23  solved simply by offering subsidies or tax

         24  incentives.

         25                 Instead, it will require a
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          2  comprehensive planning and development strategy that

          3  ensures that there is a place for manufacturers to

          4  do business in New York.

          5                 First, the City Planning Department

          6  must reevaluate its industrial policy. For too long

          7  it has allowed real estate developers and building

          8  owners to dictate planning decisions. The City has

          9  rezoned several key industrial areas in Manhattan,

         10  Brooklyn and Queens, and by spending years to study

         11  whether several manufacturing zones along the

         12  Brooklyn and Queens waterfront should be rezoned for

         13  other uses, it has invited rampant speculation by

         14  building owners who would like to convert their

         15  buildings to more profitable housing and retail

         16  uses.

         17                 The Planning Department's ambiguity

         18  has encouraged building owners to keep space off the

         19  market until the City makes a decision. It has also

         20  encouraged numerous building owners to refuse to

         21  offer leases of more than two years to manufacturers

         22  or to insist on leases that allow them to evict

         23  manufacturing tenants with just six months notice -

         24  conditions that deter all but the most transitory

         25  companies from renting space.
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          2                 The City must work with local

          3  development officials and industry leaders to

          4  designate certain areas as industrial sanctuaries or

          5  super M zones where businesses would not be subject

          6  to zoning changes. This would protect businesses

          7  from speculative real estate increases, and give

          8  them the security that makes it possible for them to

          9  sign long-term leases and reinvest in their

         10  companies growth.

         11                 In addition, the City must enforce

         12  current zoning laws that prohibit illegal conversion

         13  of industrial properties in districts that are

         14  currently zoned for manufacturing.

         15                 For instance, it must move quickly to

         16  stop the rapid conversion of industrial loft

         17  buildings in the East Williamsburg in place

         18  industrial buildings in the East Williamsburg In

         19  Place Industrial Park.

         20                 I wrote an article about the

         21  conversions that are happening in Williamsburg,

         22  everybody knows that along the Williamsburg

         23  Waterfront there has been a lot of conversions of

         24  industrial space into artists' lofts and also a lot

         25  of young people that are moving around. That has
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          2  been happening for quite some time, but I have been

          3  told that in the East Williamsburg In Place

          4  Industrial Park, a designated industrial park is

          5  supposed to be just for manufacturing companies,

          6  there has been an increasing number of conversions,

          7  illegal conversions, for artists' lofts and other

          8  residential space.

          9                 This is hurting manufacturers, it is

         10  prohibiting them from expanding to adjacent

         11  buildings. It is limiting the amount of space that

         12  firms wish to relocate from Manhattan can locate to

         13  that area.

         14                 In addition to the East Williamsburg

         15  In Place Industrial Park the City must ensure that

         16  building owners in Manhattan's Garment Center comply

         17  with the 1987 zoning law that requires them to set

         18  aside 50 percent of the space on the side streets of

         19  the Garment Center for manufacturing.

         20                 Most building owners and garment

         21  companies in that district say that building owners

         22  are routinely getting around that law.

         23                 In addition to helping preserve the

         24  current supply of manufacturing facilities, the City

         25  must do a better job supporting and encouraging new
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          2  industrial development in small to medium-sized

          3  businesses.

          4                 Currently individual developers

          5  simply do not find it profitable enough to get

          6  behind industrial projects, despite a booming

          7  economy and a tremendous demand for industrial

          8  space. Clearly, better incentive programs are

          9  needed.

         10                 The City could help spur new

         11  industrial development by supporting the creation of

         12  a public/private, non-profit trust for industrial

         13  space that acquires, redevelops and maintains

         14  industrial properties.

         15                 There are a couple immediate things,

         16  and then I will stop. It must also help develop the

         17  vacant properties that are currently owned by the

         18  City.

         19                 It should start by putting up funds

         20  to redevelop the remaining 900,000 square feet of

         21  undeveloped space at the Brooklyn Army Terminal.

         22  This is something it has the power to do right now.

         23                 In the 1980s, the Koch Administration

         24  spent millions of dollars in City funds to develop

         25  this facility. The space that it renovated is now 98
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          2  percent occupied. It is essentially full, completely

          3  full, mostly with small and medium-sized

          4  manufacturers.

          5                 In addition, the City needs to

          6  encourage the development of the acres of vacant

          7  industrial space in the Brooklyn Navy Yard. This is

          8  space that is in addition to the land that is

          9  planned for the development of movie studios of the

         10  Navy Yard. There is plenty of space there that has

         11  not been developed.

         12                 Finally, the City must restore the

         13  Business Relocation Assistance Corporation, known as

         14  BRAC. This program and others that preceded it,

         15  provided up to $60,000 in moving expenses for

         16  companies that agreed to move to other locations

         17  within the City.

         18                 The program was funded from building

         19  owners who had to contribute a portion of the

         20  profits when they converted an industrial building

         21  to residential use.

         22                 It was an extremely helpful and

         23  inexpensive relocation tool, because companies are

         24  most likely to leave the City when they lose their

         25  lease.
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          2                 I talked to somebody at the City's

          3  Department of Business Services the other day, they

          4  have a little less than $1 million left before that

          5  program was eliminated by the City in 1997. There is

          6  already over 60 applications in for business

          7  relocation assistance corporation grants and many

          8  more because there are so many conversions going on

          9  throughout the City, many more companies are going

         10  to be applying for this program, but the funds just

         11  aren't there, and this was a really unique program

         12  that actually used developers that were converting

         13  space and they were making enormous profits on that

         14  version and they helped fund the relocation of

         15  companies so they could stay in New York and that

         16  program is gone and that is a big problem.

         17                 And I wanted to just add on that note

         18  that the $8 million fund for the printers that the

         19  Council set up was extremely helpful and was a great

         20  start to helping companies stay in New York. But it

         21  is not the only industry that is getting pushed out

         22  of Manhattan.

         23                 I previously mentioned the garment

         24  industry, there are other industries that really

         25  need more relocation assistance.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay, thank

          4  you, all three of you, for your testimony.

          5                 Obviously, this isn't a light

          6  hearing, this is a very difficult hearing on the

          7  retention of industrial space and businesses.

          8                 Incidently, I am also joined by Angel

          9  Rodriguez from Brooklyn and Ronnie Eldridge from

         10  Manhattan.

         11                 Now, the three of you, can anybody

         12  here testify as to the City's benefits, such as the

         13  programs we provide now, like ICIP and IDA and ESCP

         14  for the industries? We all touched on it. Are they

         15  helping, ICIP, for instance?

         16                 MR. BOWLES: Sure they help.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: They are.

         18                 MR. BOWLES: Sure they help. You know,

         19  it is a question of degree. And I think what you

         20  have heard is it is a question of will, whether or

         21  not this Administration has the will to go out and

         22  market them. There is a fundamental problem. It is

         23  much easier to negotiate a deal for a large

         24  corporate retention package, then to help ten or 20

         25  smaller manufacturers. So, it doesn't capture their
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          2  attention.

          3                 And again, there is a built-in sort

          4  of bias in many of the programs which disfavors

          5  renting and favors ownership, and while ownership is

          6  good and can help many companies, if you are a small

          7  manufacturer and you want to renovate space in a

          8  multi-story building, or a multi-teneted building,

          9  you know, odds are you are going to be ineligible

         10  for the ICIP, odds are you are going to be

         11  ineligible for IDB, the Industrial Development

         12  Bonds, and because those are the triggers for so

         13  many other programs, like the energy cost savings

         14  one, you may really be out of luck. And it is a

         15  matter of how we allocate our economic development

         16  resources. And if you go back in time to Arthur

         17  Levitt, who chaired a committee on Economic

         18  Development, he was the first to point this out,

         19  though he of course later took advantage of it,

         20  that, you know, we are fundamentally misallocating

         21  our economic development resources, and by using tax

         22  abatement as opposed to sort of programmatic

         23  initiatives that would help smaller manufacturers.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Well, tax

         25  abatement, such as the Economic Development Zones
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          2  that we have within the City, apparently anybody

          3  that has moved there or plans to move there,

          4  incidently people are moving there in all five

          5  boroughs -- four boroughs, Manhattan doesn't have

          6  one -- think that the particular program works well.

          7  I think tax abatements with the EDZ zones, as well

          8  as some of the other programs that we have set up,

          9  help. I think it is for the want of trying. But the

         10  real estate crunch itself in a booming economy and a

         11  gentrification of districts, particularly in

         12  Manhattan, and I would imagine Brooklyn, looking at

         13  that map that is what a majority of these industries

         14  are located, is something that is a difficult

         15  situation to try to correct. It is a free market

         16  enterprise. Most of these, in fact if not all of

         17  them, are real estate, are owned by private

         18  individuals, corporations, and they have a right to

         19  do what they want to do, and of course, as you know,

         20  that is to make money. We have an obligation to be

         21  fair, as a government legislature, to look at this

         22  problem, we are here today, and to look at it very,

         23  very closely.

         24                 And like I say, this hearing is a

         25  difficult one, because the situations that we find
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          2  ourselves in, and the solutions are difficult.

          3  Nothing is ever that difficult, but each Council

          4  Member, I continue to look at that map and I am from

          5  Staten Island, as far as, for instance, the changing

          6  or keeping of the zoning to manufacturing and

          7  industrial use as it relates to the current

          8  Administration's track record of trying to change

          9  this to either residential or some other type of use

         10  to get the best bang for the buck is something that

         11  this Council Land Use Committee and the Finance

         12  Committee and Economic Development Committee, the

         13  number of them that all come together, has to look

         14  at it very closely.

         15                 And as far as BRAC is concerned, and

         16  the initiative of $8 million that was put in the

         17  budget by this Council specifically for printing in

         18  the EDC budget to help relocate should be looked at.

         19  Not $8 million, maybe needs $50 million in the BRAC

         20  program to help other companies relocate in the City

         21  and it should be looked at, and I think we will make

         22  that application to look at it in this year's fiscal

         23  budget to reinstitute that program.

         24                 MR. BOWLES: To reflect on something

         25  you said, you are right that the EDC programs help.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes.

          3                 MR. BOWLES: The problem is there is a

          4  tremendous space crunch. We are working with 50

          5  companies every day, whether you walk through Sunset

          6  Park, we are in the industrial parks every day. The

          7  vacancy rates are declining, rent levels are

          8  increasing and there is very little space in the

          9  industrial parks and in EDZs.

         10                 You are right that this is a

         11  market-driven economy, and the market is

         12  dysfunctional when it comes to industrial

         13  development and providing space for manufacturing.

         14  And that is why one of the programs that we are

         15  advocating here, this trust for industrial space,

         16  really takes a lesson from the not-for-profit

         17  housing development world, where over a period of a

         18  decade we built the capacity of local organizations,

         19  LDCs, to develop affordable housing, and we need to

         20  go to a similar process in economic development and

         21  create an entity which can engage in the process of

         22  building industrial space. It is profitable, it is

         23  not as profitable in the commercial or residential

         24  development.

         25                 People are building industrial space
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          2  now and we need to tinker with some of the

          3  mechanisms, like creating, like lowering some tax

          4  credit for housing, we need to do something similar

          5  in industrial development.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay,

          7  Councilman Rodriguez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair. I just have a short question for Ms.

         10  Garretson, because as the Chairman was saying, there

         11  are many issues on the table, and really we are just

         12  looking around for solutions, and you closed with a

         13  suggestion that both Los Angeles and Chicago have

         14  taken some positive steps. Can you tell us what some

         15  of those steps are and how we can maybe take those

         16  steps along with them?

         17                 MS. GARRETSON: They are a combination

         18  of land use encouragement of development and

         19  programmatic initiatives. I am not really -- I know

         20  this more from talking to my counterparts around the

         21  country and I am not familiar with them on an

         22  in-depth basis, so I wouldn't want to give you sort

         23  of more information, but I can find out for you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I would

         25  appreciate that, because we need to just find out
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          2  how to solve the problem.

          3                 MS. GARRETSON: Okay.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I represent

          5  the South Brooklyn Waterfront, Sunset Park, and I

          6  keep hearing Sunset Park, and I represent the

          7  900,000 square feet that is available at bat, and

          8  something that we really need to take the

          9  Administration to task and let them know that they

         10  have to make sure that they put the money into the

         11  budget to make sure that those programs get redone.

         12  Because it is important that we support

         13  manufacturing. It is an important thing.

         14                 I also have one more question, I am

         15  sorry. I believe it was for Mr. Bowles. You also

         16  ended by saying that the City and the funding stream

         17  for some kind of incentives for relocation -- BRAC;

         18  can you just tell me how the City went about doing

         19  that and maybe how we can figure out a way through

         20  the chair to reimplement that?

         21                 MR. BOWLES: Well, back in the

         22  eighties there was a number of, a few different

         23  relocation grant programs that were set up. Back in

         24  the eighties there was also the same kind of real

         25  estate pressures that were happening that were
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          2  forcing businesses out, and the City wanted to

          3  retain those companies, if not Manhattan than

          4  somewhere else in the City, and these programs were

          5  set up and they were funded by a stream from

          6  developers that were converting buildings from like

          7  Tribecca, SoHo and other areas of Manhattan. They

          8  had to contribute a small portion of the profits

          9  they got when they converted the buildings from

         10  manufacturing to residential space.

         11                 The small part of that money would go

         12  towards a fund, which became BRAC, the Business

         13  Relocation Assistance Corporation, and that huge

         14  pool of money would fund companies that were moving

         15  from Manhattan to the other boroughs. Companies

         16  could get up to $60,000 each time when they moved.

         17  Now, in 1997 the Giuliani Administration cancelled

         18  that funding stream. A lot of people said there was

         19  pressure from the real estate industry, I am not

         20  sure but the end result was that that program was

         21  cancelled and its funding stream was no more.

         22                 It still had a little more than a

         23  million dollars that it could fund companies, that

         24  basically they could draw down the funding until it

         25  was out of funds, and there is something like a
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          2  million dollars or just a little bit less that is

          3  available right now. But the City has also changed

          4  the program slightly. Now, companies are only

          5  available to, can only access $30,000 a shot, so

          6  each company that actually does manage to get some

          7  of the remaining last drops of money out of that

          8  program can only access $30,000 each time they get a

          9  grant, rather than $60,000.

         10                 $30,000 is any printing company and

         11  any garment company will tell you, is a very small

         12  portion of what they need to actually move.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And there

         14  is no more money going into the funds?

         15                 MR. BOWLES: No, not at all.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Is that

         17  done legislatively or how did that expire?

         18                 MR. BOWLES: How did that expire?

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: The fund, it was a

         20  creature of the zoning resolution, and in certain

         21  community boards in Manhattan when you converted

         22  space from manufacturing to office use, the

         23  developers were required to pay a fee based on the

         24  square footage of the building, and built into the

         25  zoning resolution was its expiration. It sunset
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          2  automatically December 31st of '97. So, when it was

          3  initially set up that sunset was built in.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And I

          5  suspect you are in favor of maybe reinstituting that

          6  or something similar to that?

          7                 MR. BOWLES: It is an excellent way to

          8  ensure the continuing funding of a program. As you

          9  know, a lot of times as administrations change, some

         10  administrations don't like to keep funding or

         11  certain problems happen when the City would like to

         12  allocate money for other purposes. So, this was a

         13  constant funding stream that didn't rely on city

         14  funds or public money, but provided a small portion

         15  of funds from the benefits that building owners got

         16  from converting their buildings, and the City

         17  allowed them to convert those buildings to

         18  residential use, so a part of that would go into

         19  keeping the companies that were put out of their

         20  homes in New York City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GOLDEN: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Rodriguez.

         25                 Council Member DiBrienza.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          3                 First let me just say that each of

          4  the presentations, and I have kept copies of them,

          5  are very excellent in terms of laying out the

          6  issues, so I just want to commend the three of you.

          7                 There is no question in your mind

          8  that this is a difficult issue, it is not a simple

          9  issue, it is not one that has simple solutions. It

         10  is a thorny, difficult issue, given all of the

         11  pressure and the realities that we face in terms of

         12  real estate pressure, economic pressure, foreign

         13  competition, unique needs of the space, I mean you

         14  would agree that it is difficult?

         15                 MR. BOWLES: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I take it,

         17  though, you would also agree that one can, as an

         18  Administration, as a government, make a difficult

         19  problem worse or better, based on your energy, your

         20  interest, your involvement.

         21                 And so, for example, the City

         22  Planning Commissioner, Chairman Rose, was supposed

         23  to be here, I am informed by staff, and I missed the

         24  opening that it is a tough time of year, it is

         25  holiday time so they are not here. That speaks
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          2  volumes to me about how little interest they have in

          3  this very important manufacturing sector and all of

          4  the difficult problems it faces.

          5                 So, I think that is -- you know, this

          6  is not just because of a market condition. So, as

          7  much as you all would agree it is a difficult

          8  problem, I would take from your testimony, written

          9  and your presentations, it is not insurmountable. I

         10  mean, that there are things we can do. You would

         11  agree with that, correct?

         12                 MR. BOWLES: Correct.

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: And I would

         15  take it among them, you know, the things not to do,

         16  or have a Commissioner who doesn't care enough about

         17  this issue to be here, to stop funding the

         18  relocation program which is from building owners who

         19  benefitted from conversions, they had to pay a

         20  little bit of money, as I understand it, to load up

         21  this fund, this business relocation fund with

         22  dollars that could then assist other companies being

         23  squeezed out.

         24                 I mean, I take it that is not market

         25  forces, that is an Administration doing a favor to
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          2  land owners, saying you don't even have to pay a

          3  little bit of tax for conversions, so that others

          4  can benefit. And there are several other examples.

          5  You know, Council Member Eldridge and I and others

          6  are talking about the misuse of tax abatements

          7  forever. I mean, if it doesn't garner a headline

          8  about, you know, NBC, ABC, or whatever company

          9  staying, this Administration isn't very interested

         10  in terms of targeting it to industrial manufacturing

         11  and other industries that you speak of.

         12                 So, I know it is not a question, it

         13  is sort of a stream of consciousness I guess, but it

         14  always bothers me when details as you all laid out

         15  are laid out, and it appears as though they are just

         16  the same as the other side -- it is not the same as

         17  the other side of this equation.

         18                 On the other side of this equation is

         19  an Administration that fails to show up at this and

         20  other hearings, that ends the minimal amount of

         21  payments that owners who convert buildings have to

         22  make, that has rarely done anything but bend over

         23  backwards to allow changes in zoning.

         24                 Let me ask one other: Their

         25  intension, someone said in their testimony, tell me
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          2  how important it is though, their intention for

          3  using this kind of land for superstores, if they had

          4  their way, or adult businesses or other uses, I

          5  mean, how important is that in terms of taking away

          6  viable property?

          7                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I think it is

          8  extraordinarily important for several reasons.

          9                 First of all, you are replacing jobs

         10  that 39 grand a year to jobs that pay $21,000 a

         11  year.

         12                 Second, think of the message you are

         13  sending to the manufacturers. These are all our

         14  unwanted uses and we are putting them with you. Now,

         15  if you are hearing that message, what do you think

         16  is the City's attitude toward your industry.

         17                 And then it is a direct competitor

         18  for use, and Jonathan started to talk about sort of

         19  the warehousing and speculation that goes on, we

         20  could show you all over the City where the property

         21  is being warehoused because the Administration has

         22  sent this message that these buildings can be

         23  converted for residential use or for superstores or

         24  for something else.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: And lastly,
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          2  at the time of the project began, then Councilman

          3  Albanese and myself were right on the border, our

          4  districts, and Councilman Rodriguez' district didn't

          5  even exist, you know, this is when there was 35

          6  Council members, we were right on the border, our

          7  districts bordered right at the edge of the army

          8  terminal. And while I have been in my time here as

          9  much a critic as of the nature of EDC, its

         10  off-budget nature, its unaccountability used to a

         11  greater or lesser degree by three successive

         12  administrations, misused, in my opinion, by three

         13  successive administrations to a greater or lesser

         14  degree, the one project that actually was phenomenal

         15  and made terrific sense was the army terminal.

         16                 So, to hear, and I wasn't aware of

         17  the number, since the Council has grown the

         18  districts have shifted and changed a little bit and

         19  not much further down, because it is now my

         20  district, Councilman Rodriguez and then Councilman

         21  Golden, to hear that there is 900,000; is that the

         22  right number?

         23                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Square feet

         25  of space still available, with an Administration
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          2  that has not, correct me if I am wrong, committed

          3  dollars to actually bring it on line?

          4                 MR. FRIEDMAN: There was funding in

          5  the capital budget and it was pushed back.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right. As

          7  opposed to things like $6 million at the drop of a

          8  hat to build a 4,500 seat stadium and parking lot in

          9  the middle of park land, on a temporary basis, I

         10  might add, for a year or two, before they built a

         11  permanent one, or 40 now 60 million dollars in

         12  Staten Island to do -- so, I only point that out

         13  because this is not just a happenstance. You all as

         14  experts no doubt have agreed it is a difficult

         15  problem, but I submit it is made either more

         16  difficult by a lack of commitment, that this

         17  Administration has evidenced more than any, or made

         18  less difficult, if you take some creative steps.

         19                 I don't want to leave the impression,

         20  as much as the Chairman is so fair, the standing

         21  chair, not the temporary chair, not that he is not

         22  fair, but it wasn't his remark. They weren't your

         23  remarks.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GOLDEN: Thank you,

         25  sir.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: That in

          3  terms of the difficulty, and I think he speaks to

          4  that. I don't think it is not made more difficult,

          5  in fact I think it is made more difficult by the

          6  actions of this Administration. And I just wanted

          7  that sentiment out there. So, thank you for bearing

          8  with me, they were very minimal questions, more

          9  commentary. Thank you, Mr. Acting Chair.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GOLDEN: Thank you,

         11  Council Member.

         12                 Council Member Eldridge.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I don't

         14  really have any questions either. I don't think even

         15  that difficult if you were committed to it, but I

         16  would like to do something on a relative basis, if

         17  we talk about 225,000 jobs, compare it not to the

         18  whole industry, but let's just taking banking, the

         19  major banks who have gotten how much money and

         20  retention plans and tax credits and stuff, how

         21  employees are there?

         22                 MR. FRIEDMAN: 110 in securities. I

         23  can bring you a list left over from the last hearing

         24  of the corporate retention deals within the past

         25  couple of years and you will see the dollar value,
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          2  the subsidy per job in financial services.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What does

          4  that come to about?

          5                 MR. BOWLES: Well, I can tell you for

          6  one that in 1988 or '89 the Chase Manhattan Bank

          7  received 234 million in various financial incentives

          8  from the City of New York.

          9                 Just a few months ago Chase announced

         10  it was moving something like 3,500 jobs down to

         11  Texas in Florida, so obviously there is a question

         12  about the effectiveness of some of these tax

         13  incentive programs, and I think that is what you get

         14  when you are giving a lot of money to one company,

         15  and just to compare that, earlier this year the City

         16  had put in $23 million that would have taken car of

         17  renovating the 900,000 square feet at the Brooklyn

         18  Army Terminal. That $23 million would have paid for

         19  the renovation of space for dozens of different

         20  small companies, that they could have grown and

         21  thrived in New York City, and you are hedging your

         22  bets rather than putting all of your $234 million

         23  into one egg.

         24                 I can also say that the City has

         25  given $90 million to Citibank back in 1989. Several
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          2  other banks have also received millions of dollars

          3  in the City.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And what you

          5  also said, Adam, you said before -- thank you,

          6  Jonathan.

          7                 But you said before the ICIP is not

          8  really that helpful to most of the manufacturers

          9  because they aren't building enough of the space?

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I think it is useful to

         11  many manufacturers but it excludes a certain class

         12  who would prefer to rent, smaller manufacturers who

         13  move into multi-teneted buildings, they won't make

         14  the threshold investment to trigger ICIP or to

         15  trigger ECSP.

         16                 So, for example, they could pro rate

         17  the program so that if you rent 20 percent of the

         18  building, you make 20 percent of the investment, you

         19  get 20 percent of the benefits.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: But then

         21  they would reward the actual creation of jobs and

         22  actual product as opposed to, as we have always

         23  talked about, the owner of the property.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: No, I think

         25  you are absolutely right, we don't really have an
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          2  economic development policy. We have corporate

          3  retention, we have big business assistance, but we

          4  really don't practice specific economic development

          5  policies that would really economically help

          6  businesses that develop.

          7                 We had the same complaints, it seems

          8  to me, and we heard the same problems when we had

          9  the hearing on hi-tech businesses with the

         10  difficulty of finding space, affordable space, that

         11  we may have one model building or two model

         12  buildings on Wall Street heavily subsidized but

         13  basically small companies have a very great problem

         14  trying to find space for themselves or growing

         15  companies and they can't grow.

         16                 So, I hope the Chairman hears me.

         17                 That in the coming year that somehow

         18  -- and it is also very similar with commercial

         19  businesses and the cost of leasing commercial spaces

         20  and how high that is and how unpredictable it is and

         21  how at the mercy we all are to the owners of land in

         22  this City.

         23                 So, it seems to me that there has to

         24  be much more pressure to develop. Are we talking

         25  about developing more industrial parks? I remember
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          2  20 years ago the Port Authority embarked upon what

          3  they call the future study and one of the efforts

          4  that they then picked up was inner-city industrial

          5  parks, which was they later abandoned for the high

          6  cost of electricity and the different things that

          7  made them non-competitive. But it would seem to me

          8  that that would be, is that what you are suggesting,

          9  that that become a greater commitment on the part of

         10  the city and that city funds go into that?

         11                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Two things. The

         12  City is in the process of rewriting the zoning

         13  resolution.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What does

         15  that mean? I saw that, what do you mean they are in

         16  the process of rewriting the zoning?

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN: As if they were writing

         18  it new, and the segmentation --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: When did

         20  they start that? How come we don't know that?

         21                 MR. BOWLES: Months ago. They

         22  announced it.

         23                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Months ago. But the way

         24  the zoning is currently divided --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Are they
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          2  having public hearings and things like that?

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I have no idea, not

          4  part of the process. I couldn't tell you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: I think our

          6  Land Use Division is aware of that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, I

          8  think the people of the City should be aware of

          9  that. We have lots of challenges facing us on that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes,

         11  absolutely. On Staten Island I am aware of an

         12  attempt to, just recently, all of this is recent, I

         13  know they have started to look into this, but I

         14  believe the Council will be briefed on this shortly.

         15  On Staten Island there is an attempt to rezone a big

         16  portion of industrial property out in the West Shore

         17  to residential. So, that is why this particular

         18  hearing now, not just because of Staten Island, but

         19  because of what the Councilwoman just had brought

         20  up, that rezoning industrial property to residential

         21  or other uses at a time when we are really looking

         22  at a tremendous crunch in retention of types of

         23  industry that should stay in industrial property and

         24  not rezone it is an issue, it is a big issue.

         25                 Councilwoman, do you have any other
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          2  questions?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: No. I

          4  remember the speech that announced this, but I

          5  discounted it because I never think it is very

          6  comprehensive.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 MR. BOWLES: I just wanted to respond.

         10  You said is it a question of building more

         11  industrial parks, I think the idea of needing new

         12  industrial space is a good one, and the fact that so

         13  many of the industrial businesses out there rent

         14  rather than own space, that is why so many companies

         15  are having a space crunch, but it is also a factor

         16  of the fact that so many of the areas where there is

         17  a little bit of space are being converted illegally

         18  with impunity. There is really no -- I mean that is

         19  the part of this that no one is really looking at,

         20  and could be done immediately.

         21                 East Williamsburg In Place Industrial

         22  Park right now, there are dozens of illegal

         23  conversions going on. This is supposed to be a

         24  strictly manufacturing area, not only is it zoned

         25  for manufacturing, it is designated industrial park.
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          2  Yet, they are looking the other way while this

          3  conversion is happening, and if we don't have the

          4  money right now to put into developing new space or

          5  putting money into the army terminal, that is one

          6  thing, but at least you can enforce the current law

          7  and keep the current space and not lose more supply

          8  of industrial --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Mr. Bowles --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: That

         12  allegation that you have made in front of this

         13  Committee, I now direct my legal counsel to not

         14  research this, but to have correspondence to the

         15  appropriate agency with regard to your testimony and

         16  the allegations that you have made. And I hope that

         17  we will get an answer, and when we do, everyone in

         18  this Committee will get the answer.

         19                 MR. BOWLES: Thank you, Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Council Member

         21  DiBrienza.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Yes, one

         23  last comment and question, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Do you have any reports, or mixed in

         25  the reports -- is there some sort of real evidence?
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          2  I have the following proposition: That in addition

          3  to everything else that was mentioned, the people

          4  who are actually employed in all of these jobs that

          5  are under threat that are being relocated or not

          6  being supported enough, the vast majority are New

          7  York City residents. Real New Yorkers who work for a

          8  living and struggle for a living in this City and

          9  who should expect their government or their

         10  government leaders to listen to them and to sort of

         11  work on their behalf. As opposed to the higher

         12  glitzy kind of corporate headline-grabbing deals,

         13  that in fact are often -- and jobs that are

         14  supposedly created but at best retained, that are

         15  often documented as going to non-New York City

         16  residents. Is there any kind of statistics that kind

         17  of could back that up? That is my sense of it.

         18                 MS. GARRETSON: We know this for a

         19  fact from going in and talking to the manufacturers

         20  and seeing the degree to which the workers walk to

         21  work. What we may be able to do is take a look at

         22  the census data and journey to work data, perhaps it

         23  might give you a sense of how long people commute,

         24  that might be able to give us a better handle on

         25  that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right.

          3                 MS. GARRETSON: We can take a look

          4  into it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I know the

          6  Comptroller has done some work in this area that

          7  talked about a lot of the, you know, while there is

          8  job creation in the City particularly on the highly

          9  skilled, highly technical end, a lot of it don't go

         10  to New York City residents.

         11                 MR. BOWLES: Well I think what you are

         12  alluding to is with a lot of the big corporate

         13  retention deals, the companies that get it -- there

         14  is no direct evidence, there is no reporting

         15  requirement by the companies that get those

         16  corporate retention deals as to how much or what

         17  percentage of the work force actually are New

         18  Yorkers, people that are City residents. But in my

         19  research on those deals, two companies voluntarily

         20  supplied the information and I think one company

         21  said 51 percent of its work force were City

         22  residents and the other companies said 48 percent,

         23  but it is almost like they were bragging in the

         24  letters that this information was disclosed. It was

         25  almost like they were saying, you know, wow, 51
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          2  percent of our workforce is in New York, you should

          3  definitely give us incentives.

          4                 And what we are hearing from so many

          5  companies, like the gentleman who spoke from his

          6  printing company before, almost all, if not all of

          7  the employees in manufacturing firms are New York

          8  City residents.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: May I just

         11  ask each of you how your organization is funded?

         12                 MR. BOWLES: Poorly.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What did you

         14  say, poorly?

         15                 MR. BOWLES: Ours is funded somewhat

         16  by the state and then foundation money, we hustle.

         17                 MS. GARRETSON: We are one-third

         18  federal, and about 25 percent state and the City

         19  provides the space and the rest is fee for service.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We are entirely

         21  foundation funded, except occasionally we will go in

         22  the subways with a hat.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Mr.

         24  Chairman, since these are organizations that are not

         25  representing special interests but the interests of
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          2  basically New Yorkers and small business which

          3  doesn't seem to be represented, maybe we could

          4  figure out a way to assist in the funding in the

          5  Council Budget.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: There is no

          7  City funding whatsoever to your organizations?

          8                 MR. BOWLES: No.

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Have you

         11  applied to any specific --

         12                 MS. GARRETSON: We have a $100,000

         13  contract through EDC which was a line item from

         14  Vallone's office to do a technology policy study for

         15  the Council.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: All right, so

         17  there is City money available. Council money.

         18                 Thank you very much for your

         19  testimony.

         20                 Now we have actually five more

         21  witnesses, we will bring three up now; and that is,

         22  Joe Ithier, Borough President Fernando Ferrer. Anne

         23  Adair, Queens County Overall Development, and

         24  Christopher Jones, Regional Planning Association.

         25  And after their testimony we will hear from Mr. Fred
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          2  Levine and Mr. Thomas Lunke.

          3                 MR. ITHIER: Good afternoon, Mr.

          4  Chairman. I am Joe Ithier, representing Borough

          5  President Ferrer, but also you all know me as the

          6  president of the Bronx Overall Economic Development

          7  Corporation and also the Administrator of the Bronx

          8  Empowerment Zone.

          9                 I also, by the way, you should know,

         10  represent the Bronx on the EDC Board, as well as IDA

         11  Board, and I am a Board member of the DASNY New York

         12  State Dorm Authority.

         13                 There are very few facts about New

         14  York City that are well known as the precipitous

         15  decline of its manufacturing industry over the past

         16  40 years, and though at the national level

         17  manufacturing continues to maintain its steady 20 to

         18  23 percent share of the gross domestic product,

         19  largely because of increased productivity, my

         20  concern is that with the decline of jobs and its

         21  impact on the economy of the City at large and that

         22  of the Bronx in particular, and Mr. Chairman, you

         23  have noted some figures before which I have

         24  included, I don't have to repeat that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: No, but if you
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          2  could sum this up a little bit it would help.

          3                 MR. ITHIER: Sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Unless there

          5  is something very specific, I think everybody is

          6  going to say the same thing, but we want to hear it.

          7                 MR. ITHIER: Yes, Mr. Chairman. We

          8  would like to note that manufacturing in the Borough

          9  of the Bronx continues to come in due to the fact of

         10  the New York Empowerment Zone and we have been able

         11  to, but we are running out of land. A lot of the

         12  manufacturers have been looking for more land than

         13  ever. You know, in '96 we lost one of the biggest

         14  manufacturers, Farberware, as we call it the St.

         15  Valentine's Massacre in the Bronx, issue where we

         16  lost 800 jobs and we had to relocate all of those

         17  people.

         18                 You have been hearing some of the

         19  statistics that we have been using, along with the

         20  industrial retention program and some of the other

         21  programs that we have been working with. We would

         22  like to note that one of the issues that we have had

         23  in the Borough of the Bronx is that a lot of the

         24  people are new immigrants that have moved in, as the

         25  Dominican and Caribbean who have moved in. We have
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          2  had a total of 25.7 percent of Dominican Labor Force

          3  was employed in manufacturing, compared to nine

          4  percent among non-Hispanic Whites, and 8.2 percent

          5  for non-Hispanic African-Americans in the Borough of

          6  the Bronx.

          7                 In 1998 there was a study that this

          8  City Council and the Washington Think Tank concluded

          9  that only 29 percent of New York City residents are

         10  considered to be middle class today, down from 35

         11  percent ten years ago. This so concerned the City

         12  Council that it held Citywide hearings on the

         13  matter.

         14                 The discussion and debates

         15  surrounding the alarming discovery concluded with

         16  numerous reasons the recommendations of redressing

         17  this middle class decline.

         18                 To my knowledge, few of the reasons

         19  and recommendations sought to establish a linkage

         20  between the decline of the middle class and decline

         21  of good paying manufacturing jobs in the City. Is

         22  there a link? I certainly think so. But there is

         23  perhaps because I did not make an automatic link

         24  between middle class and white collar jobs.

         25                 A study released in May this year by
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          2  the New York Industrial Retention Network concluded

          3  that in New York 52 percent of foreign-born workers

          4  and 62.7 of workers that English language problems

          5  are employed in manufacturing.

          6                 This should not have been a surprise

          7  since it is generally known that countless

          8  generations of immigrants, many having little or no

          9  command of English, found their first jobs in the

         10  City's manufacturing industry on their way to middle

         11  and upper class status.

         12                 For the period of '95/'96, 230,000

         13  immigrants, the largest three groups of which do not

         14  have English as their mother tongue, settled in the

         15  City, which now has only about 260,000 manufacturing

         16  jobs, making it unlikely that they will be able to

         17  use a channel of upward mobility that was used by

         18  generations of immigrants for them.

         19                 One of the issues that we have taken

         20  into account is that many of the immigrants are now

         21  coming out of the Borough of the Bronx who have

         22  settled in the Bronx are working throughout the City

         23  and traveling.

         24                 We have been concerned of bringing in

         25  manufacturing into the Borough of the Bronx to make
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          2  life easier for many of the residents here, but as

          3  manufacturing decreases, the people have less jobs

          4  and you have a lower income base which is what has

          5  been happening in the Borough of the Bronx.

          6                 But through the help of different

          7  programs, we have been able to move in more and more

          8  businesses and we will be opening the New York Post

          9  plant in the Empowerment Zone by November of 2000,

         10  which will increase the 400 jobs that they will be

         11  bringing in and 200 extra jobs that they will be

         12  hiring of people within the Empowerment Zone. We

         13  were recently able to move Endico potatoes into the

         14  Hunt's Point Industrial Market from Westchester, but

         15  at the same time we lost two companies to

         16  Westchester County from the Borough of the Bronx.

         17                 To sum it up, Mr. Chairman, and

         18  members of the Council, it is imperative that as we

         19  look at manufacturing in the future, one of the

         20  issues is small manufacturing, that is anywhere of

         21  65, 25 to 200 jobs. One of the energies that we have

         22  been doing in the Borough of the Bronx is to bring

         23  those manufacturers. There is no one really working

         24  with the small manufacturers, and one of the things

         25  that I have been seeing as a member of DDC
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          2  representing our borough is that there is no network

          3  of discussion between the Economic Development

          4  Corporation, City Planning and the Local LDCs

          5  representing each borough, and I think that this

          6  Council has stated it over and over and over, it is

          7  imperative that those City agencies, along with this

          8  Committee of the City Council and the Borough

          9  Economic Development Corporations work hand-in-hand

         10  in trying to (a) keep the manufacturers that are

         11  existing, those who want to expand, and those who

         12  are moving, plus manufacturers who come out of the

         13  state who need support and help in working

         14  hand-in-hand.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         17                 MR. JONES: Good afternoon. Good

         18  afternoon, Chairman O'Donovan and members of the

         19  Committee. I appreciate the opportunity to testify

         20  before you today. My name is Chris Jones and I am

         21  the Director of Economic Programs for Regional Plan

         22  Association, and let me start by describing the

         23  perspective that RPA brings to this discussion.

         24                 We are a private not-for-profit

         25  organization that has researched and help guide the
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          2  development of the New York Metropolitan area for

          3  over 75 years. Our principal concern is to enhance

          4  quality of life for everyone who lives in the

          5  region, and produce policy recommendations that seek

          6  to achieve three inner-related goals:

          7                 First, to improve the strength of the

          8  economy and promote long-term sustainable growth.

          9                 Second, to enhance broad social

         10  equities so that everybody benefits from the

         11  prosperity.

         12                 Third, to protect and enhance the

         13  region's natural environment. It is there on water

         14  quality, it is parks open space and waterways. And

         15  by all three of these measures the future of

         16  manufacturing in New York City is a vitally

         17  important issue.

         18                 I think the reasons to the importance

         19  of manufacturing has been gone over by several of

         20  the speakers today, so I wanted to skip over that

         21  part of the presentation, and go into some of the

         22  ideas that we would like to present for you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         24                 MR. JONES: And I think the first

         25  thing is the point that Council Member DiBrienza
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          2  made earlier is that the future of manufacturing is

          3  a difficult one, but it is not one that is divorced

          4  from City policy. The City policy can make a

          5  difference in terms of how it develops over time.

          6                 We are currently in the process of

          7  examining these possibilities in a project that

          8  compares industrial areas in the New York region to

          9  other parts of the country and the world,

         10  particularly Milan, Italy. We chose Milan because

         11  that is an area that is known for retaining a large

         12  healthy manufacturing sector, even though it is an

         13  affluent high-cost urban area.

         14                 And in the first days of this project

         15  we took a look at the types of industrial production

         16  it tended to do well in urban areas. We also had

         17  teams of planners, economists and architects, which

         18  included people like Adam Friedman and Sara

         19  Garretson, develop ideas for industrial districts in

         20  three communities in the New York region, one of

         21  them being Long Island City and Queens, and I would

         22  like to just share a few of our findings to date and

         23  find out their implications for policies related to

         24  manufacturing.

         25                 First, there are several kinds of
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          2  manufacturing that continue to do well in urban

          3  areas, including New York City. These include

          4  products with a strong design component, such as

          5  high value of peril products, industries like New

          6  York's fashion industry thrive and be in close

          7  proximity to designers, showrooms and customers, as

          8  well as being in the center of international media

          9  and the arts.

         10                 Other activities that need to be in

         11  close contact with customers in corporate

         12  headquarters, investment banks, advertising

         13  companies and business service firms that cluster in

         14  large cities. Printing is a good example of this

         15  type of industry. Although companies can now produce

         16  many documents in house, there is still a need to

         17  contract out for large jobs or high quality

         18  documents to firms that can provide close customer

         19  contact and same day delivery.

         20                 Another type of urban manufacturing

         21  benefits from the large consumer markets in

         22  Metropolitan areas. These industries make

         23  specialized products for niche markets in large

         24  urban regions. Specialty food products, particularly

         25  ethnic foods are an example.  As the largest and
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          2  most diverse consumer markets in the country, the

          3  New York region has particular advantage for these

          4  types of products.

          5                 Finally, even in industries that one

          6  wouldn't expect to do well, particularly cost

          7  sensitive industries that produce low-value

          8  products, there are often a number of businesses

          9  that have found a winning formula, finding ways to

         10  minimize the City's cost disadvantages, while taking

         11  advantages of the City's workforce, global

         12  connections and other advantages.

         13                 All of these activities, while they

         14  can do well here, are under tremendous competitive

         15  pressures, which many of the previous speakers have

         16  gone through in great detail, and I will just focus

         17  in a little bit on Long Island City for a moment.

         18                 In Long Island City, for example,

         19  approximately 1,800 industrial businesses, mostly

         20  small companies, benefit from great highway and

         21  transit access, proximity to Midtown Manhattan, a

         22  large work force and a large supply of industrial

         23  space.

         24                 However, these firms also face

         25  changing production requirements, increasing real
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          2  estate costs, and increasing pressures from

          3  commercial and residential uses.

          4                 It is not hard to envision Long

          5  Island City 20 years from now as a place where

          6  manufacturing firms have been largely displaced by

          7  office towers and apartment buildings. Or it could

          8  evolve into a place where mixed use areas continue

          9  to coexist with industrial districts, where

         10  manufacturers interact with designers, clients,

         11  academics and others to produce high quality

         12  products.

         13                 New development could be planned to

         14  minimize conflict with industrial uses, and

         15  innovative community design can create public spaces

         16  that are appealing to product designers, employees

         17  and customers.

         18                 How long Island City evolves will

         19  depend in large measure on the land use, economic

         20  development and infrastructure policies the city

         21  pursues.

         22                 The same is true for other

         23  manufacturing areas of the City, even if they have

         24  different assets and issues.

         25                 While there is no simple formula or
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          2  single solution, there are some broad policies that

          3  can support a stronger manufacturing sector.

          4                 One is to maintain a consistent land

          5  use policy that discourages competing uses in

          6  healthy manufacturing areas. Rezoning is appropriate

          7  for former industrial areas that can no longer

          8  support manufacturing, but zoning changes and

          9  variances should be resisted in areas with strong

         10  clusters of manufacturing firms. This will not only

         11  reduce the real estate pressures on exiting

         12  businesses, it will also help provide confidence in

         13  both current and new business owners that an area

         14  will retain its industrial character.

         15                 Transportation improvements

         16  constitute another set of actions that are just as

         17  important for manufacturing as they are for office

         18  industry.

         19                 Both freight and passenger

         20  transportation matter a great deal. Investments in

         21  rail freight connections in the City can reduce

         22  distribution costs, while also reducing truck

         23  traffic on City Streets.

         24                 Improved subway and bus connections

         25  can also be important for manufacturing in areas
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          2  that draw in a Citywide workforce.

          3                 Another actions include tax and

          4  financing mechanisms that will lower development

          5  cost for industrial space. This includes actions

          6  such as amending IDA legislation to support

          7  third-party development of industrial space, or

          8  using tax increment financing to support

          9  infrastructure development in industrial areas.

         10                 Direct assistance to businesses also

         11  needs to be a part of the package. Improved

         12  technical and relocation assistance could keep many

         13  threatened firms in business.

         14                 Actions, such as tax credit for

         15  moving expenses, financing for new equipment and

         16  assistance in implementing new production and

         17  distribution practices can improve productivity and

         18  help small firms adapt to changes in the economy and

         19  real estate market.

         20                 Support for intermediary

         21  organizations that represent manufacturing firms,

         22  such as ITAC or the Industrial Retention Network,

         23  can be a particular effective means of providing

         24  assistance.

         25                 Individually none of these actions
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          2  will have dramatic impact on the future of

          3  manufacturing. As a package, however, they could

          4  make a difference between a city that eventually

          5  loses most of its remaining industrial base or one

          6  that retains a vibrant mix of productive industry.

          7                 The most important consideration is

          8  to adopt a mindset that manufacturing matters and to

          9  translate that objective into action across a broad

         10  range of policy areas. It does not mean that every

         11  policy decision has to favor manufacturing, or that

         12  every area currently zoned for industrial use should

         13  remain that way. It does mean giving increased

         14  attention to a critical part of the economy that is

         15  too often neglected.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you.

         18                 MS. ADAIR: My name is Anne Adair. I

         19  have been asked by Marie Nihician, the Executive

         20  Director of the Queens County Overall Economic

         21  Development Corporation to give a presentation on

         22  behalf of the organization to you.

         23                 This EDC was founded in 1976 by

         24  residents and business leaders in Queens and it is

         25  the only boroughwide organization that provides
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          2  comprehensive business development and technical

          3  assistance in Queens.

          4                 It has continually been a stimulus

          5  for community-based development and balanced

          6  economic growth focusing on job creation and job

          7  retention activities throughout Queens diverse

          8  neighborhoods.

          9                 Now, the future of manufacturing is

         10  very critical to Queens because of one simple

         11  reason, jobs.

         12                 Over 11 percent of all jobs in Queens

         13  are manufacturing jobs.

         14                 In 1998, over 50,000 of the 447,000

         15  jobs in Queens were provided by 1,869 companies in

         16  the manufacturing sector. In absolute numbers Queens

         17  has more jobs and trades and services, however, jobs

         18  in Queens that are concentrated in manufacturing

         19  have a greater significance to the economy and the

         20  percentages indicate.

         21                 A large percentage of the dollars

         22  spent on services and retail are local dollars.

         23  Manufacturing brings in dollars from outside of

         24  Queens and much of it supports jobs in the trade and

         25  service sectors.
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          2                 Trade and service jobs are part of a

          3  dependent economic base. Manufacturing jobs pay on

          4  average higher wages. This is a key factor

          5  supporting the economic health to Queens residents

          6  who have higher incomes and higher level of home

          7  ownerships in other areas of New York City.

          8                 Queens is recently a discovered

          9  retail market in New York City, manufacturing jobs

         10  have historically provided a major percentage of

         11  disposable income that supports this new retail

         12  market.

         13                 Manufacturing jobs in Queens

         14  decreased by about three percent, from '92 to '96.

         15  However, there have been increases in the number of

         16  jobs between '97 and '98. We fear that 1999 will be

         17  the year of lost opportunity as the number of

         18  manufacturers in Queens need to expand and the

         19  number of firms that desire to relocate to Queens

         20  aren't are in excess of the space available.

         21                 Manufacturing cannot compete with

         22  highest and best use real estate principles because

         23  manufacturing cannot generate the same dollar per

         24  square foot that can be realized with retail and

         25  office uses. They also like the same neighborhoods.
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          2  They like to be close to the train, many of the

          3  manufacturers I speak to like the mixed use nature,

          4  they feel it is safer for their employees and it's

          5  attractive when they have customers come visit their

          6  businesses.

          7                 This is similar to the inability of

          8  small independent business owners and shopkeepers to

          9  compete for space with fast food business on retail

         10  strips.

         11                 A diverse economic basis is critical

         12  to any urban area. This is the most important factor

         13  in the employment and economic base of not only

         14  Queens but all of New York City.

         15                 Maintaining diversity in the economy

         16  is a challenge when there is no policy that sets a

         17  framework to nurture and preserve higher paying

         18  sectors of the economy. Based on a recent survey of

         19  employers in Queens sponsored by the QCOEDC, wages

         20  in the manufacturing sector are about $9.00 an hour

         21  as opposed to $6.00 an hour in the service and

         22  retail sectors.

         23                 The experience of one of the recent

         24  companies that we began working with in 1998 is

         25  instructive. We will soon lose 78 jobs to New
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          2  Jersey, and the reason is space.

          3                 Over a year ago, I began working with

          4  a Brooklyn bookbinder who contacted us. He was

          5  anxious to relocate because his business was

          6  growing. This 35-year-old manufacturing company with

          7  a national market and over 2000 customers, and it

          8  needed to double its square footage.

          9                 The owner began an exhaustive search

         10  for a larger building. He called real estate

         11  brokers, he called local development corporations.

         12  He became so desperate he got in his car, took time

         13  out of his day, drove around industrial districts in

         14  Brooklyn and Queens and took down phone numbers off

         15  of for sale signs. Then he came back and he told me

         16  what happened. He found buildings that weren't

         17  really for sale, they were too expensive, they were

         18  about to fall into the creek, they were really

         19  investment properties with tenants already in place

         20  that he was not going to be able to displace.

         21                 We were one of many organizations in

         22  New York and New Jersey that he contacted.

         23                 Queens was particularly attractive

         24  because many of his management level staff lived in

         25  this Borough. We worked with him to identify
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          2  suitable buildings, and introduced him to the

          3  various financing incentive programs offered by the

          4  City and State, we demonstrated the presence of a

          5  workforce in Queens that would meet his needs.

          6                 Most of his line workers were

          7  Brooklyn residents, came right out of the housing

          8  project right across the street. They walked to work

          9  every day, their kids would come by and say "mom, I

         10  am home", and then they would go home and do their

         11  homework. He knew he was going to lose that

         12  workforce. We went through some effort to show him

         13  that a similar workforce he could find in Queens,

         14  and if he would be able to fill his jobs.

         15                 Earlier this year, an industrial

         16  building in eastern Queens was identified that met

         17  his logistical and financial considerations.

         18  However, it was going to require significant

         19  renovations and repairs. He made an offer, which the

         20  owner eventually accepted. Unfortunately, the

         21  building was determined to have significant

         22  environmental problems. My understanding is the

         23  seller and the buyer never came to an agreement on

         24  the clean-up plan and eventually the seller sold the

         25  building to a different person who probably didn't
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          2  need bank financing and wasn't too worried about oil

          3  tanks.

          4                 However, thinking he found a new home

          5  he had already sold his building, and now he needed

          6  to be out by the end of the year. We immediately

          7  went back to work trying to find space for him. Of

          8  course, we knew he wasn't just talking to us, we

          9  have our colleagues in Brooklyn and the Bronx who he

         10  spoke to also.

         11                 We were even at rental space to give

         12  him some place to go, as a last-minute ditch effort.

         13                 Two weeks ago he called to tell me

         14  that he had signed a contract to purchase what he

         15  had described as a beautiful building, in moving

         16  condition at the right price with a local work force

         17  and lots of tax incentives, but it was in New

         18  Jersey. And he thanked me very much for all of my

         19  work, but he had to leave now.

         20                 QCOEDC urges the City of New York to

         21  quickly examine the need to assist the manufacturing

         22  companies that have been the key part of maintaining

         23  our diverse economy.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay. Thank

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  you all for your testimony.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 Thomas Lunke and Fred Levine.

          5                 Gentlemen.

          6                 MR. LUNKE: Thank you, Chairman

          7  O'Donovan, Honorable Council Members, for having

          8  this hearing on the future of manufacturing in New

          9  York City. My name is Thomas Lunke and I am Director

         10  of Planning at Harlem Community Development

         11  Corporation, which is a subsidiary of Empire State

         12  Development Corporation, and a member of Community

         13  Board 4 in Manhattan.

         14                 I am also the author of the Minority

         15  Report on the Chelsea Rezoning Plan, which asks for

         16  retention of manufacturing in Chelsea.

         17                 I am speaking today as a private

         18  citizen to suggest zoning changes I believe

         19  appropriate to the economic well-being of the

         20  greater Harlem community and the City at large.

         21                 Please consider how our current

         22  zoning strategy is having a detrimental impact on

         23  the viability of manufacturing in New York City. The

         24  Department of City Planning and the Board of

         25  Standards and Appeals rezone and give variances to
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          2  existing zoning respectively allowing the conversion

          3  of land from manufacturing uses to residential,

          4  retail and office use.

          5                 Since new land isn't being rezoned

          6  from residential retail and office use to

          7  manufacturing, we end up with a shortage of land

          8  dedicated to manufacturing. All the manufacturing

          9  jobs are being squeezed into smaller areas at higher

         10  prices with the resulting loss in jobs, economic

         11  diversity and tax base.

         12                 We need to look at ways of expanding

         13  our economic diversity. Too much of our tax base

         14  relies on the financial service sector. We have seen

         15  what happens to this City when Wall Street

         16  hibernates.

         17                 We need to increase the density of

         18  manufacturing uses in centrally located areas near

         19  subway and commuter rail lines. If it cannot be in

         20  midtown or downtown, then it must be along the mass

         21  transit lines in Harlem, the Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens

         22  and, yes, even Staten Island.

         23                 Just as lawyers, accountants and

         24  bankers need to be clustered together for better

         25  productivity, manufacturing firms need the same
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          2  clustering.

          3                 To keep manufacturing in midtown and

          4  downtown, Manhattan requires increasing the density

          5  of housing in the outer boroughs. This, along with

          6  the diversifying - sorry. This, along with

          7  diversifying the land use in upper Manhattan and the

          8  outer boroughs will relieve some of the pressure to

          9  build South of 96th Street and make other areas more

         10  attractive to business and tourism.

         11                 Specialty manufacturing, such as

         12  printing, signage, biotechnology, furniture,

         13  clothing and computers is key to keeping New York

         14  City viable in world trade.

         15                 When the ideas come, there needs to

         16  be a manufacturer close by to create the product. If

         17  it sells, then it can be mass produced here or

         18  elsewhere. The point is that the economy is not

         19  competitive without manufacturing.

         20                 Jobs that are created for suburban

         21  commuters are not jobs created for New York City

         22  residents.

         23                 While we derive some benefit from

         24  having commuters working here, we have a greater

         25  benefit when our residents are employed.
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          2                 As the welfare rolls shrink and the

          3  number of residents on the unemployment line

          4  increase, there needs to be an increase in jobs that

          5  do not require high levels of education and yet

          6  provide a living wage.

          7                 It is important to remember that the

          8  City became wealthy because of manufacturing. As we

          9  work toward expanding its presence here, we worked

         10  toward creating a wealthier city for all of us.

         11                 I just would like to add a couple of

         12  points, in direct response to a couple of things I

         13  heard earlier.

         14                 There was a discussion about the free

         15  market, operating here in New York City. Well, the

         16  free market is restricted by zoning. And when so

         17  much of the land is devoted to residential

         18  development, that restricts the free market from

         19  expanding on the economic base and so much of our

         20  land, I don't have the figures, but so much of it is

         21  devoted to residential use, at a low density I might

         22  add.

         23                 Also, upper Manhattan also has an

         24  Empowerment Zone. It has the upper Manhattan

         25  Empowerment Zone, as well as the economic
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          2  development zone, the only one in Manhattan.

          3                 With regards to the rezoning

          4  initiatives that Joe Rose is putting forth, they

          5  haven't been widely publicized and there won't be

          6  public hearings until it goes through the ULURP

          7  process, and that is so that the opportunities are

          8  limited on the input in the rezoning process because

          9  as everyone knows here, the ULURP process is flawed

         10  in that you cannot publicly comment on pre-ULURP

         11  items, so the window of opportunity is usually too

         12  late because all of the plans have been formalized

         13  already and then basically what you are doing is

         14  trying to nip and tuck at the ends.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. LEVINE: Hi. My name is Freddie

         17  Levine. I am a manufacturer in Long Island City.

         18                 I am third generation apparel

         19  manufacturer, we are a union shop. I employ 60

         20  people, and I am on a month-to-month arrangement

         21  with my landlord in a building on Queens Plaza that

         22  is scheduled for redevelopment.

         23                 I want to thank you for taking the

         24  time to pay attention to manufacturing in New York

         25  City.
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          2                 I am also the Chair of ITAC, and I

          3  appreciate the effort and the time that you guys put

          4  into that.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Well, thank

          7  you for those complimentary thoughts and words.

          8                 Now, this hearing, as was said by a

          9  number of Council members and myself, is not an easy

         10  one, it is a difficult one. It is difficult because

         11  of various changes in the City and changes in the

         12  economics of the City, the fire industry, Wall

         13  Street, et cetera, and all the related industries,

         14  yet we are committed to manufacturing because it is

         15  part of the City, and the preserving of

         16  manufacturing, and as we heard testimony, it seems

         17  to me today that most of the industrial parks that

         18  we have, areas particularly like Long Island City,

         19  because they have had the space are up to capacity,

         20  and yet the industries themselves want to stay here

         21  because they seem to be expanding. That the problem

         22  of relocation, the problem of money, the competition

         23  from a place like New Jersey is still out there, yet

         24  if up to the industries, they would want to stay

         25  here.
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          2                 So, the City, we in the City, and I

          3  continue to look at that map when I speak, because

          4  it is such a vivid explanation of where we are, must

          5  come up and continue our efforts to help people such

          6  as yourself, and other people who testified, and we

          7  will.

          8                 We will go back and look at the BRAC

          9  location and the zoning issue, and instead of $8

         10  million to EDC for the printing industry per se,

         11  maybe we can double it or triple it for other

         12  industries, and we will go back and look at these

         13  issues and hopefully we will have another hearing

         14  early next year, maybe during the middle of the year

         15  and see how far we go.

         16                 But I appreciate all of you coming

         17  down here for this Committee on such an important

         18  issue as this. We have an open door policy here, you

         19  can always get a hold of our legal counsel, or me

         20  personally or any of the members of this Committee,

         21  because this is such an important issue, and it

         22  reflects on every Council member, the manufacturing,

         23  more so others than some here, but certainly on the

         24  majority of us and the whole City as a whole.

         25                 So, thank you for coming to this
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          2  hearing. Your testimony is well taken, and we will

          3  move forward.

          4                 Thank you. This hearing is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:12 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 20th day of November 1999.
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         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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